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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

  July 31, 2004  January 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

  (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)  

ASSETS
             

Current assets:
             

Cash and cash equivalents
  

$ 31,333
   

$ 74,772
   

$ 25,194
  

Accounts receivable
  

12,974
   

8,462
   

15,412
  

Inventories
  

136,563
   

96,128
   

87,321
  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
  

26,631
   

20,070
   

26,042
  

Total current assets
  

207,501
   

199,432
   

153,969
  

Property and equipment, net
  

146,016
   

146,707
   

154,617
  

Other assets
  

14,337
   

13,527
   

9,326
  

Total assets
  

$ 367,854
   

$ 359,666
   

$ 317,912
  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
             

LIABILITIES:
             

Current liabilities:
             

Revolving credit facilities
  

$ 0
   

$ 0
   

$ 426
  

Accounts payable
  

46,401
   

35,173
   

35,488
  

Income taxes payable
  

819
   

9,733
   

345
  

Accrued expenses, interest and other current liabilities
  

41,598
   

40,251
   

40,473
  

Total current liabilities
  

88,818
   

85,157
   

76,732
  

Long-term liabilities:
             

Deferred rent liabilities
  

15,081
   

14,187
   

12,859
  

Other long-term liabilities
  

3,323
   

3,317
   

2,330
  

Total liabilities
  

107,222
   

102,661
   

91,921
  

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
             

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
             

Common stock, $0.10 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;
26,866,251 shares, 26,733,313 shares and 26,627,522 shares
issued and outstanding, at July 31, 2004, January 31, 2004 and
August 2, 2003, respectively

  

2,687
   

2,673
   

2,663
  

Additional paid-in capital
  

103,353
   

101,288
   

99,221
  

Accumulated other comprehensive income
  

2,680
   

2,754
   

604
  

Retained earnings
  

151,912
   

150,290
   

123,503
  

Total stockholders’ equity
  

260,632
   

257,005
   

225,991
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
  

$ 367,854
   

$ 359,666
   

$ 317,912
   

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Twenty-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

Net sales
 

 

$ 189,165
   

$ 159,082
   

$ 414,945
   

$ 340,092
  

Cost of sales
  

130,866
   

108,612
   

264,787
   

219,732
  

Gross profit
 

 

58,299
   

50,470
   

150,158
   

120,360
  

Selling, general and administrative expenses
  

64,231
   

55,988
   

126,904
   

107,379
  

Depreciation and amortization
  

10,397
   

9,875
   

20,702
   

19,403
  

Operating (loss) income
 

 

(16,329)
  

(15,393)
  

2,552
   

(6,422)
 

Interest income, net
  

81
   

52
   

107
   

145
  

(Loss) income before income taxes
 

 

(16,248)
  

(15,341)
  

2,659
   

(6,277)
 

(Benefit) provision for income taxes
  

(6,337)
  

(5,982)
  

1,037
   

(2,447)
 

Net (loss) income
  

$ (9,911)
  

$ (9,359)
  

$ 1,622
   

$ (3,830)
 

Basic net (loss) income per common share
 

 

$ (0.37)
  

$ (0.35)
  

$ 0.06
   

$ (0.14)
 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
  

26,860
   

26,620
   

26,837
   

26,609
  

Diluted net (loss) income per common share
 

 

$ (0.37)
  

$ (0.35)
  

$ 0.06
   

$ (0.14)
 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding
  

26,860
   

26,620
   

27,516
   

26,609
   

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

  Tweny-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
 

        

Net income (loss)
  

$ 1,622
   

$ (3,830)
 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:

         

Depreciation and amortization
  

20,702
   

19,403
  

Deferred financing fee amortization
  

29
   

30
  

Loss on disposals of property and equipment
  

367
   

263
  

Deferred rent
  

1,116
   

1,110
  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
         

Accounts receivable
  

(4,514)
  

(1,646)
 

Inventories
  

(40,462)
  

(11,400)
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
  

(6,482)
  

(6,414)
 

Other assets
  

(840)
  

(53)
 

Accounts payable
  

11,245
   

4,517
  

Taxes payable
  

(8,914)
  

147
  

Accrued expenses, interest and other current liabilities
  

1,352
   

4,067
  

Total adjustments
  

(26,401)
  

10,024
  

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities
  

(24,779)
  

6,194
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
 

        

Property and equipment purchases
  

(20,453)
  

(18,353)
 

Net cash used in investing activities
  

(20,453)
  

(18,353)
 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
 

        

Exercise of stock options and employee stock purchases
  

2,078
   

462
  

Deferred financing costs
  

0
   

(175)
 

Borrowings under revolving credit facility
  

59,618
   

38,940
  

Repayments under revolving credit facility
  

(59,618)
  

(38,514)
 

Net cash provided by financing activities
  

2,078
   

713
  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
  

(285)
  

(5)
 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
  

(43,439)
  

(11,451)
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
  

74,772
   

36,645
  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
  

$ 31,333
   

$ 25,194
  

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
 

        

Cash paid during the period for interest
  

$ 13
   

$ 87
  

       



Cash paid during the period for income taxes 14,975 1,104
 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1.   BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. Certain information and footnote disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statements
have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In the opinion of management, the
accompanying unaudited financial statements contain all material adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, necessary to present fairly the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated, and have been prepared in a manner consistent with the audited
financial statements as of January 31, 2004. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and footnotes for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Due to the seasonal nature of the Company’s business, the results of operations for the thirteen weeks ended July 31, 2004 and
August 2, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of operating results for a full fiscal year.

2.   STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for its stock option plans and its employee stock purchase plan under the intrinsic value method described in the provisions of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). Accordingly, no compensation expense has been
recognized for stock-based compensation since the options granted were at prices that equaled or exceeded their estimated fair market value at the date of
grant. If compensation expense for the Company’s stock options and employee stock purchases issued during the thirteen weeks and twenty-six weeks ended
July 31, 2004 and August 2, 2003 had been determined based on the fair value method of accounting, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”) and the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”), the Company’s net income would have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts
indicated below for the thirteen weeks and twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 and August 2, 2003, respectively:

  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Twenty-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

Net (loss) income—(in thousands)
                 

As reported
  

$ (9,911)
  

$ (9,359)
  

$ 1,622
   

$ (3,830)
 

Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all
awards, net of related tax effects

  

1,396
   

1,019
   

3,005
   

2,125
  

Pro forma
  

$ (11,307)
  

$ (10,378)
  

$ (1,383)
  

$ (5,955)
 

(Loss) earnings per share—
                 

Basic—as reported
  

$ (0.37)
  

$ (0.35)
  

$ 0.06
   

$ (0.14)
 

Basic—pro forma
  

$ (0.42)
  

$ (0.39)
  

$ (0.05)
  

$ (0.22)
 

Diluted—as reported
  

$ (0.37)
  

$ (0.35)
  

$ 0.06
   

$ (0.14)
 

Diluted—pro forma
  

$ (0.42)
  

$ (0.39)
  

$ (0.05)
  

$ (0.22)
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Unaudited)

3.   NET (LOSS) INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” the following table reconciles net (loss) income and
share amounts utilized to calculate basic and diluted net (loss) income per common share.

  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Twenty-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

Net (loss) income (in thousands)
 

$ (9,911) $ (9,359) $ 1,622
 

$ (3,830)

Basic shares
 

26,859,867
 

26,619,649
 

26,836,663
 

26,609,417
 

Dilutive effect of stock options
 

0
 

0
 

679,576
 

0
 

Dilutive shares
 

26,859,867
 

26,619,649
 

27,516,239
 

26,609,417
 

Antidilutive options
 

1,960,396
 

1,334,659
 

815,288
 

1,390,922
 



 

The net loss per share presented in the consolidated statements of income for the thirteen weeks ended July 31, 2004 and August 2, 2003, as well as the
twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, excludes the dilutive effect of stock options, which would be antidilutive as a result of the net loss.

Antidilutive options consist of the weighted average of stock options for the respective periods ended July 31, 2004 and August 2, 2003 that had an
exercise price greater than the average market price during the period. Such options are therefore excluded from the computation of diluted shares.

4.   COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

The following table presents the Company’s comprehensive (loss) income (in thousands):

  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Twenty-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

Net (loss) income
  

$ (9,911)
  

$ (9,359)
  

$ 1,622
   

$ (3,830)
 

Translation adjustments
  

865
   

37
   

(74)
  

351
  

Comprehensive (loss) income
  

$ (9,046)
  

$ (9,322)
  

$ 1,548
   

$ (3,479)
  

5.   DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” (“SFAS No. 133”), as amended and interpreted, requires that each
derivative instrument (including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability and
measured at its fair value. The statement also requires that changes in the derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings in either income (loss)
from continuing operations or accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), depending on whether the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting treatment.

Commencing in the thirteen weeks ended July 31, 2004, the Company began using foreign currency forward contracts for the specific purpose of
reducing the exposure to variability in forecasted cash flows associated primarily with inventory purchases for the Company’s Canadian operations. These
instruments
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Unaudited)

5.   DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

are not designated as hedges and, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, the changes in fair value are included in current period earnings.

At July 31, 2004, the Company had forward contracts maturing through January 2005 for its Canadian operations to buy $8.5 million U.S. dollars for
$11.3 million Canadian dollars. The Company’s Canadian operations uses Canadian dollars as its functional currency, but purchases most of its merchandise
in U.S. dollars. The Company has recorded an unrealized fair market value gain of approximately eight thousand dollars in its earnings for the period ending
July 31, 2004, which represents the fair market value of the forward contracts at July 31, 2004.

6.   CREDIT FACILITIES

Wells Fargo Credit Facility

The Company has a credit facility (the “Wells Fargo Credit Facility”) with Wells Fargo Retail Finance, LLC (“Wells Fargo”). The Wells Fargo Credit
Facility provides for up to $85 million in borrowings which includes a sublimit of up to $80 million in letters of credit. Wells Fargo acts as our agent bank for
a syndicated group of lenders on this facility. This credit facility also contains provisions to increase borrowings up to $120 million (including a sublimit for
letters of credit of $100 million), subject to sufficient collateralization and the syndication of the incremental line of borrowing. The amount that can be
borrowed under the credit facility depends on the Company’s levels of inventory and accounts receivable. The Wells Fargo Credit Facility expires in
April 2006 and provides for one year renewal options.

The Company had no outstanding borrowings under this credit facility as of July 31, 2004 and had letters of credit outstanding of $55.8 million. During
the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, the Company’s borrowings under this credit facility represented overnight borrowings for letters of credit that
cleared after business hours. The average balance during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 was approximately $507,000 and the average interest rate
was 4.04%. The maximum outstanding letters of credit under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility was $60.0 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31,
2004. Availability as of July 31, 2004 was $29.2 million.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility also contains covenants, which include limitations on the Company’s annual capital expenditures, the maintenance of
certain levels of excess collateral, and a prohibition on the payment of dividends. Credit extended under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility is secured by a first
priority security interest in all of the Company’s assets, except for assets in Canada. As of July 31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all of its
covenants under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility.

Noncompliance with these covenants could result in additional fees, could affect the Company’s ability to borrow, or require the Company to repay the
outstanding balance. Amounts outstanding under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility bear interest at a floating rate equal to the prime rate or, at the Company’s
option, a LIBOR rate plus a pre-determined spread. The LIBOR spread is 1.50% to 3.00% depending on the Company’s level of availability from time to
time.
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THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Unaudited)

6.   CREDIT FACILITIES (Continued)

Toronto Dominion Credit Facility

The Company has a $7.5 million credit facility with Toronto Dominion Bank (the “Toronto Dominion Credit Facility”) to support its Canadian
subsidiary. As of July 31, 2004, the Toronto Dominion Credit Facility was secured by a standby letter of credit issued under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility to
permit up to $1.8 million in borrowings. As of July 31, 2004, there were no borrowings and no letters of credit outstanding under the Toronto Dominion
Credit Facility. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, the Company did not borrow under the Toronto Dominion Credit Facility. The Toronto
Dominion Bank can demand repayment and cancel the availability of the Toronto Dominion Credit Facility at any time.

7.   INSURANCE PROCEEDS

During the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, the Company received approximately $1.5 million in a partial settlement of its business interruption
claim for its World Trade Center store. These proceeds reduced selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of
income.

8.   LITIGATION

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of its business. In the opinion of management, any ultimate liability
arising out of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

9.   INCOME TAXES

The Company computes income taxes using the liability method. This standard requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities, measured by
enacted rates, attributable to temporary differences between financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities. Temporary differences result
primarily from accelerated depreciation and amortization for tax purposes and various accruals and reserves being deductible for future tax periods. The
income tax provision recorded for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 reflects our estimated expected annual effective tax rate.

10.   SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On August 4, 2004, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with The Walt Disney Company to negotiate the possible acquisition and operation of
The Disney Store retail chain in the United States and Canada under a long-term license arrangement. There is no certainty at this stage that our discussions
will lead to any definitive agreement or transaction.
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Item 2.                  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities laws, which are intended to be
covered by the safe harbors created thereby. Those statements include, but may not be limited to, the discussions of the Company’s operating and growth
strategy. Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, those set forth under the
caption “Risk Factors” in the Business section of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004. Although the Company
believes that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, any of the assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate, and therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q will prove to be
accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such information should not be
regarded as a representation by the Company or any other person that the objectives and plans of the Company will be achieved. The Company undertakes no
obligation to publicly release any revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect events and circumstances occurring after the date
hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the annual audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended January 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from our estimates. The
accounting policies that we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating reported financial results include the following:

Revenue Recognition—Sales are recognized upon purchase by customers at our retail stores or when shipped from our distribution center if the product
was purchased via the Internet, net of anticipated returns. Actual merchandise return rates have historically been within our expectations and the allowance
established. However, in the event that the actual rate of sales returns by customers increased significantly, our operational results could be adversely affected.

Our policy with respect to gift cards is to record revenue as the gift cards are redeemed for merchandise. Prior to their redemption, unredeemed gift cards
are recorded as a liability.

Once an annual minimum customer purchase threshold is satisfied on our private label credit card, we offer a discount on future purchases for the
remainder of the fiscal year. Revenue is deferred for the future discount earned by our private label credit card customers that have satisfied or are expected to
satisfy minimum purchase thresholds.

Inventory Valuation—Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market, using the retail inventory method. Under the retail
inventory method, the valuation of inventories at cost and the resulting gross margins are calculated by applying a cost-to-retail ratio to the retail value of



inventories. At any one time, inventories include items that have been marked down to our best estimate of their fair market value. We base our decision to
mark down merchandise upon its current rate of sale, the season, age and sell-through of the item. To the extent that our estimates differ from actual results,
additional markdowns may have to be recorded, which could reduce our gross margins and operating results. Our success is largely dependent upon our
ability to gauge the fashion taste of our customers and
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provide a well-balanced merchandise assortment that satisfies customer demand. Any inability to provide the proper quantity of appropriate merchandise in a
timely manner could increase future markdown rates.

Impairment of Assets—We continually evaluate each store’s performance and measure the carrying value of each location’s fixed assets, principally
leasehold improvements and fixtures, versus its projected cash flows. An impairment loss is recorded if the projected future cash flows are insufficient to
recapture the net book value of their assets. To the extent our estimates of future cash flows are incorrect, additional impairment charges may be recorded in
future periods.

Litigation—We are involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. In our opinion, any ultimate liability arising out
of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

Stock Options—We record no compensation expense on our financial statements for stock-based compensation, since we grant stock options at prices
that equal or exceed the fair market value of the related shares at the date of the grant. If, in the future, we elect or are required to adopt fair value accounting
for our stock-based compensation, the related compensation charge will adversely impact net income. In addition, increases to our stock price would result in
more diluted shares outstanding and reduce our diluted net income per common share.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected income statement data expressed as a percentage of net sales:

  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Twenty-Six Weeks Ended  

  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  July 31, 2004  August 2, 2003  

Net sales
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
 

Cost of sales
  

69.2
   

68.3
   

63.8
   

64.6
  

Gross profit
  

30.8
   

31.7
   

36.2
   

35.4
  

Selling, general and administrative expenses 
  

34.0
   

35.2
   

30.6
   

31.6
  

Depreciation and amortization
  

5.5
   

6.2
   

5.0
   

5.7
  

Operating (loss) income
  

(8.7)
  

(9.7)
  

0.6
   

(1.9)
 

Interest income, net
  

0.1
   

0.1
   

—
   

0.1
  

(Loss) income before income taxes
  

(8.6)
  

(9.6)
  

0.6
   

(1.8)
 

(Benefit) provision for income taxes
  

(3.4)
  

(3.7)
  

0.2
   

(0.7)
 

Net (loss) income
  

(5.2)%
  

(5.9)%
  

0.4%
  

(1.1)%
 

Number of stores, end of period
  

715
   

679
   

715
   

679
   

Thirteen Weeks Ended July 31, 2004 (the “Second Quarter 2004”) Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended August 2, 2003 (the “Second Quarter 2003”)

Net sales increased by $30.1 million, or 19%, to $189.2 million during the Second Quarter 2004 from $159.1 million during the Second Quarter 2003.
During the Second Quarter 2004, we opened 16 new stores, including our first store in Puerto Rico, and closed one store. Our comparable store sales
increased 10% and contributed $15.4 million of our net sales increase in the Second Quarter 2004. Comparable store sales increased 3% during the Second
Quarter 2003. During the Second Quarter 2004, our comparable store sales increase was primarily the result of increases in the number of comparable store
sales transactions, partially offset by a decrease in our average dollar transaction size. Net sales for the 16 new
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stores, as well as other stores that did not qualify as comparable stores, increased our net sales by $14.7 million.

Gross profit increased by $7.8 million to $58.3 million during the Second Quarter 2004 from $50.5 million during the Second Quarter 2003. As a
percentage of net sales, gross profit decreased to 30.8% during the Second Quarter 2004 from 31.7% during the Second Quarter 2003. The decrease in gross
profit, as a percentage of net sales, was principally due to a lower initial markup, partially offset by the leveraging of occupancy costs over a larger sales base
and lower markdowns. Our initial markup was lower due to our continuing investment in the quality of our garments and the receipt of a larger proportion of
basic merchandise, which carries a lower initial markup. During the Second Quarter 2004, we continued our strategic acceleration of merchandise receipts,
which we believe provides us with greater flexibility, enhances product flows to our stores and improves floorset execution of new season merchandise.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $8.2 million to $64.2 million during the Second Quarter 2004 from $56.0 million during the
Second Quarter 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 34.0% of net sales during the Second Quarter 2004 from 35.2% of net sales
during the Second Quarter 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased, as a percentage of net sales, due primarily to the leveraging of store
payroll and store operating expenses, as well as lower pre-opening and store remodeling costs. We recorded lower pre-opening and remodeling costs as a
result of opening 16 new stores and remodeling one store during the Second Quarter 2004, as compared to 19 new stores opened and 8 stores remodeled
during the Second Quarter 2003. These decreases, as a percentage of net sales, were partially offset by increased corporate payroll and medical expenses.
Marketing expenses, as a percentage of net sales, were comparable to the Second Quarter 2003.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to $10.4 million, or 5.5% of net sales, during the Second Quarter 2004, as compared to $9.9 million, or 6.2% of
net sales, during the Second Quarter 2003. The increase in depreciation and amortization primarily was a result of increases to our store base. Depreciation
and amortization decreased, as a percentage of net sales, as a result of the leveraging over a larger sales base.



Our benefits from income taxes were $6.3 million and $6.0 million during the Second Quarter 2004 and the Second Quarter 2003, respectively. Our
effective tax rate was 39.0% during both periods.

Our net loss in the Second Quarter 2004 was $9.9 million as compared to a net loss of $9.4 million during the Second Quarter 2003, due to the factors
discussed above.

Twenty-Six Weeks Ended July 31, 2004 Compared to Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 2, 2003

Net sales increased $74.8 million, or 22%, to $414.9 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 from $340.1 million during the twenty-six
weeks ended August 2, 2003. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, we opened 26 stores and closed two stores. Comparable store sales increased
13% during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, which increased our net sales by $42.0 million. Comparable store sales declined 6% during the
twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, our comparable store sales increase primarily was the result of an
increase in the number of comparable store transactions. Net sales for the 26 stores opened during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, as well as other
stores that did not qualify as comparable stores, contributed $32.8 million of the net sales increase.

Gross profit increased by $29.8 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 to $150.2 million from $120.4 million during the twenty-six
weeks ended August 2, 2003. As a percentage of net sales, gross profit increased to 36.2% during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 from 35.4%
during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. The increase in gross profit, as a percentage of net sales, was principally due to lower markdowns and the
leveraging of occupancy costs over a larger sales base, partially
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offset by a lower initial markup. Our markdowns were lower due to continued positive customer response to our merchandise, combined with improved
techniques to allocate merchandise to our stores. Our initial markup was lower due to our continuing investment in garment quality and a larger portion of our
inventory invested in basic merchandise, which carries a lower initial markup.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $19.5 million to $126.9 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 from $107.4
million during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 30.6% of net sales during the twenty-six weeks
ended July 31, 2004 as compared with 31.6% of net sales during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. As a percentage of net sales, selling, general
and administrative expenses decreased due to lower store payroll and store operating expenses, as well as lower pre-opening and store remodeling costs.
During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, we opened 26 new stores, as compared to 38 new stores during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2,
2003. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, we remodeled four stores as compared to 11 stores during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2,
2003. These decreases, as a percentage of net sales, were partially offset by increased marketing costs to promote brand awareness, as well as increased
corporate payroll and medical expenses. In addition, during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, we received approximately $1.5 million, or 0.4% of
net sales, in insurance proceeds from a partial settlement of our business interruption claim from our World Trade Center store.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to $20.7 million, or 5.0% of net sales, during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, as compared to $19.4
million, or 5.7% of net sales, during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. The increase in depreciation and amortization primarily was a result of a
larger store base. As a percentage of net sales, depreciation and amortization decreased as a result of leveraging over a larger sales base.

Our provision for income taxes for the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 was $1.0 million. During the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, we
recorded a tax benefit of $2.4 million, due to our net loss. Our effective tax rate was 39.0% during both twenty-six week periods.

Due to the factors discussed above, we recorded net income of $1.6 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 as compared to a net loss of
$3.8 million during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Debt Service/Liquidity

Our primary uses of cash are financing new store openings and providing for working capital, which principally represents the purchase of inventory.
Our working capital needs follow a seasonal pattern, peaking during the second and third quarters when inventory is purchased for the back-to-school and
holiday seasons. We have been able to meet our cash needs principally by using cash on hand, cash flows from operations and seasonal borrowings under our
credit facilities. As of July 31, 2004, we had no long-term debt obligations or short-term borrowings.

We have a credit facility with Wells Fargo Retail Finance, LLC. The Wells Fargo Credit Facility currently provides for borrowings up to $85 million
(including a sublimit for letters of credit of $80 million). The Wells Fargo Credit Facility also contains provisions to allow us to increase borrowings up to
$120 million (including a sublimit for letters of credit of $100 million), subject to sufficient collateralization and the syndication of the incremental line of
borrowing. The amount that may be borrowed under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility depends on our levels of inventory and accounts receivable. Amounts
outstanding under the facility bear interest at a floating rate equal to the prime rate or, at our option, a LIBOR rate plus a pre-determined spread. The LIBOR
spread is 1.50% to 3.00%, depending on our level of availability from time to time. The Wells Fargo Credit Facility contains covenants, which include,
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limitations on our annual capital expenditures, maintenance of certain levels of excess collateral and a prohibition on the payment of dividends. Credit
extended under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility is secured by a first priority security interest in all our assets, except for our assets in Canada. We were in
compliance with all of the covenants under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility as of July 31, 2004. Noncompliance with these covenants could result in additional
fees, could affect our ability to borrow or could require us to repay the outstanding balance.

As of July 31 2004, we had no borrowings under our Wells Fargo Credit Facility and had outstanding letters of credit of $55.8 million. Availability under
the Wells Fargo Credit Facility was $29.2 million. The maximum outstanding letters of credit under our working capital facility during the twenty-six weeks
ended July 31, 2004 were $60.0 million.

To support our Canadian operations, we have a $7.5 million credit facility with Toronto Dominion Bank, which, as of July 31, 2004, was collateralized
by a standby letter of credit obtained under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility to permit up to $1.8 million in borrowings. As of July 31, 2004, we had no



borrowings under our Canadian credit facility and had no outstanding letters of credit. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, we did not utilize
our Canadian credit facility.

Cash Flows/Capital Expenditures

During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, operating activities used $24.8 million in cash flow as compared to $6.2 million provided by operating
activities during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, operating activities used more cash primarily
as a result of increased inventory levels and higher tax payments, partially offset by higher earnings and increases in accounts payable. During the twenty-six
weeks ended July 31, 2004, we strategically accelerated the receipt of our merchandise and correspondingly increased our inventory levels. We believe this
strategy provides us with greater flexibility in reacting to sales trends, enables us to better manage product flows to our stores and improves our floorset
execution of new season merchandise.

Cash flows used in investing activities were $20.4 million and $18.4 million in the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 and the twenty-six weeks
ended August 2, 2003, respectively. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 and the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, we opened 26 stores
and 38 stores and remodeled four stores and 11 stores, respectively. The increase in cash flows used in investing activities reflects increased expenditures for
information systems initiatives and our new Canadian distribution center, partially offset by lower new store expenditures reflecting fewer store openings and
remodels during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004. Capital expenditures also include ongoing store, office and distribution center equipment needs.
We anticipate that total capital expenditures for our business during fiscal 2004 will be approximately $45 million.

In July 2004, we entered into an 11 year lease, with two five-year renewal option periods, for an approximately 525,000 square foot distribution center in
South Brunswick Township, New Jersey to support our continued growth. Annual rent under this lease is approximately $2.3 million. We plan to utilize this
facility beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. We expect to make a total cash outlay of approximately $15 million to install an automated warehouse
management system and to renovate this distribution center to meet our needs. In fiscal 2004, we expect to make a cash outlay of approximately $3 million
(which is included in our fiscal 2004 capital plans), with the remainder during fiscal 2005.

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $2.1 million and $0.7 million during the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004 and twenty-six weeks
ended August 2, 2003, respectively. During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, cash flows provided by financing activities reflected funds received
from the exercise of employee stock options and employee stock purchases. During the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2003, cash flow provided by
financing activities reflected funds received from borrowings under
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the Toronto Dominion Credit Facility and the exercise of employee stock options and employee stock purchases, partially offset by cash used for deferred
financing fees.

During the twenty-six weeks ended July 31, 2004, we opened 26 stores and closed two stores. During fiscal 2004, we plan to open approximately 60
stores and plan to remodel approximately 8 stores. We believe that cash on hand, cash generated from operations and funds available under our credit
facilities will be sufficient to fund our capital and other cash flow requirements for at least the next 12 months for our existing business. Our ability to meet
our capital requirements will depend on our ability to generate cash from operations. In addition, we will consider additional sources of financing to fund our
long-term growth.

On August 4, 2004, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with The Walt Disney Company to negotiate the possible acquisition and operation of
The Disney Store retail chain in the United States and Canada under a long-term license arrangement. There is no certainty at this stage that our discussions
will lead to any definitive agreement or transaction. The above discussion of liquidity and capital resources does not take into account any potential
acquisition.

Item 3.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks.

In the normal course of business, our financial position and results of operations are routinely subject to market risk associated with interest rate
movements on borrowings and investments and currency rate movements on non-U.S. dollar denominated assets, liabilities and income. We utilize cash from
operations and short-term borrowings to fund our working capital and investment needs.

Cash balances are normally invested in short-term financial instruments. Because of the short-term nature of these investments, changes in interest rates
would not materially affect the fair value of these financial instruments.

Our $85 million Wells Fargo Credit Facility provides a source of financing for our working capital requirements. Borrowings under this facility bear
interest at a floating rate equal to the prime rate or, at the Company’s option, a LIBOR rate plus a pre-determined spread. As of July 31, 2004, we had no
borrowings outstanding under this credit facility.

Assets and liabilities outside the United States are primarily located in Canada. Our investment in foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other
than the U.S. dollar, are generally considered long-term. We have purchased forward contracts to reduce the exposure to variability in currency fluctuations in
our Canadian operations, which are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes.

Item 4.   Controls and Procedures.

(a)   Disclosure controls and procedures.   As of the end of the Company’s most recently completed fiscal quarter covered by this report, the Company
carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of the end of the period covered by this report, that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that information required by the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

(b)   Changes in internal controls over financial reporting.   There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that
occurred during the Company’s most recently completed fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II—Other Information

Item 1.   Legal Proceedings.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of its business. In the opinion of management, any ultimate liability
arising out of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Item 4.   Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

The Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders was held on June 17, 2004. The following matters were voted on by the stockholders:

1.                Election of one Director.   Stanley Silverstein was elected to the Company’s Board of Directors for a term expiring in 2007. The results of the voting
were as follows; 19,560,114 votes in favor of Mr. Silverstein, with 4,987,244 votes against.

2.                Ratification of the selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for the fiscal year
ending January 29, 2005. The results of the voting were as follows; 24,301,407 votes in favor, with 241,914 votes against, and 4,037 abstaining.

3.                Approval of an amendment to the Company’s 1997 Stock Option Plan to increase by 1,500,000 the number of shares available for issuance
thereunder. The results of the voting were as follows; 18,766,731 votes in favor, with 2,723,535 votes against, and 6,760 abstaining.

Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K.

(a)          Exhibits

Exhibit
No.  Description of Document

10.2
 

Lease Agreement between the Company and Turnpike Crossing I, LLC, dated as of July 14,
2004.

31
 

Section 302 Certifications
32

 

Section 906 Certifications

(b)          Reports on Form 8-K.

April 2004 Sales Press Release, dated May 6, 2004.

First Quarter 2004 Earnings Press Release, dated May 13, 2004.

May 2004 Sales Press Release, dated June 3, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE CHILDREN’S PLACE RETAIL STORES, INC.

Date:   September 7, 2004 By: /s/ EZRA DABAH
  

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:   September 7, 2004 By: /s/ SETH L. UDASIN
  

Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.2
 

SINGLE TENANT
N E T  L E A S E

 
THIS SINGLE TENANT NET LEASE (“Lease”) is made as of the 14th day of July 2004, by and between Turnpike Crossing I, L.L.C., a

Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”) and The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”), who hereby mutually
covenant and agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE I.  GRANT, TERM, DEFINITIONS AND BASIC PROVISIONS
 

1.0                               Basic Lease Provisions. The following terms are defined as follows:
 

(a)                        Commencement Date: December 1, 2004
 
(b)                       Lease Term:  Eleven (11) Years and Two (2) months.
 
(c)                        Expiration Date:  January 31, 2016.
 
(d)  Purpose: Warehousing of Tenant’s non-hazardous goods and related office uses.
 
(e)  Base Rent:
 

12/1/2004 – 3/31/2005  —     Base Rent Abates
 
4/1/2005 – 3/31/2010  -  $186,433.33 per month  $2,237,200  per annum ($4.25/rsf/year)
 
4/1/2010 – 1/31/2016 -  $206,173.33 per month   $2,474,080 per annum  ($4.70/rsf/year)
 

 (f)  Tenant’s Address:  915 Secaucus Road, Secaucus, NJ 07094, Attn: VP Real Estate with a copy to the General Counsel.
 
(g)  Landlord’s Address:  Turnpike Crossing I, L.L.C., c/o Allianz of America, 55 Greens Farms Road, Westport, CT 06881-8500 Attn.
Real Estate Department.
 
(h)  Rentable Area of Premises:  526,400 rentable square feet (“rsf”).
 
 (i)  Security Deposit:  None.
 
 (j)  Guarantor:  None.
 

1.1                               Grant.  Landlord, for and in consideration of the rents and other sums herein reserved and of the covenants and agreements herein
contained on the part of the Tenant to be performed, hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, the Premises hereafter described.  The
“Premises” are comprised of and defined as (i) that parcel of land (“Land”) located at 115 Interstate Boulevard, South Brunswick Township, Middlesex
County,

 

 
New Jersey and legally described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto, (ii) a one-story industrial warehouse building located on the Land, together with all
alterations, additions and replacements thereof  and all equipment, fixtures, walks, drives, parking areas, loading areas, landscaping and other improvements
now or hereafter erected or placed into service on the Land (collectively the “Building”), and (iii) all easements appurtenant to the Land.
 

1.2                               Lease Term.  The Lease Term shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall expire on the Expiration Date, unless extended or
sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of this Lease.
 

1.3                               Option to Extend.  Tenant shall have the right to renew the term of this Lease for two (2) consecutive periods of five (5) years each (the
first such 5-year period is sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “First Renewal Term”; the second such 5-year period is sometimes hereinafter referred to
as the “Second Renewal Term”;  and the First Renewal Term and the Second Renewal Term are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Renewal Terms” and individually as a “Renewal Term”) on and subject to the following terms and conditions:

 
A.                                   Upon Tenant’s exercise of any Renewal Term and upon the expiration of the Term of this Lease or the First Renewal Term, as

applicable, no default by Tenant, of which Landlord has provided written notice to Tenant, has occurred and is continuing beyond any applicable
notice and cure period;

 
B.                                     The Renewal Terms shall be upon the same terms, covenants and conditions as provided in this Lease; provided that Landlord

shall not be required to provide any free rent, rent abatement, tenant improvements,  allowances, or other concessions, and provided further, that
Base Rent for the First Renewal Term shall be $2,763,600 per annum ($5.25/ft) and the Base Rent for the Second Renewal Term shall be the greater
of (i) $2,763,600 per annum ($5.25/ft), or (ii) 95% of  Market Rent (as hereafter defined) for the Premises as determined in the manner set forth
below.  Upon determination of the Base Rent for a Renewal Term, the parties shall execute an amendment to this Lease to establish and evidence
such rental rate;

 
C.                                     Tenant shall exercise its right to a Renewal Term by notifying Landlord in writing of its election to exercise its right to renew no

later than nine (9) months prior to the expiration of the initial term of this Lease (or the First Renewal Term, as applicable), which notice, in the case
of the Second Renewal Term, shall be accompanied by Tenant’s written estimate of the Market Rent applicable to the Second Renewal Term.
Tenant’s exercise of an election to renew shall be irrevocable.  Within thirty (30) days after receipt of Tenant’s notice and estimate for the Second
Renewal Term, Landlord shall provide Tenant written notice of Landlord’s estimate of Market Rent.  If such estimates differ, then Landlord and



Tenant shall, for a period of thirty (30) days, attempt to agree as to the Market Rent for such Renewal Term. Any estimate of Market Rent given in a
written notice by one party to the other with respect to a Renewal Term shall represent an  irrevocable offer which shall be susceptible of acceptance
by the other party at any time prior to receipt of the arbiter’s determination as provided below.   If Landlord and Tenant
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do not agree on Market Rent by the conclusion of such 30-day period, then either party may demand that Market Rent be determined by binding
arbitration, in accordance with the following provisions.

 
D.                                    Within 10 days following a demand for arbitration, each party shall give written notice to the other party specifying the name,

address and professional qualifications of the person designated to act as appraiser on its behalf. The two appraisers designated by the parties shall,
within ten (10) days after designation of the second appraiser, select a third appraiser to act as arbitrator. Each appraiser designated and the arbitrator
jointly appointed hereunder shall be MAI members of the Appraisal Institute with not less than five (5) years of experience in the appraisal of
improved industrial property in the Exit 8A market area of Middlesex County, and be devoting substantially full time to professional appraisal work
at the time of appointment, and, with respect to the arbitrator only, be in all respects impartial and disinterested. Neither party shall engage in any
“ex-party” communications with the arbitrator. If either party fails to designate its appraiser within the time above specified, or if the two (2)
appraisers so designated cannot agree on the selection of the arbitrator within the time above specified, then either party, on behalf of both parties,
may request that the President of the metro New York/New Jersey chapter of the Appraisal Institute appoint such arbitrator, and if such President is
unavailable or unwilling to make such appointment, then the arbitrator shall be selected by the New Jersey chapter of the American Arbitration
Association. Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of the appraiser designated by such party. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be
borne equally by both parties. The arbitrator shall render its determination of Market Rent no later than thirty (30) days after the date of his
appointment and such determination shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the parties.

 
E.                                      “Market Rent” shall mean the fair market base rental (net of real estate taxes, maintenance, and insurance premiums) at which the

Premises would be expected to be leased for the applicable Renewal Term based on the then existing market conditions for similar modern industrial
warehouse facilities within the Exit 8A market area of Middlesex County.

 
1.4                               Management Fee.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord on the first day of each month of the Term, in advance, a management fee as follows:

 
From Commencement Date through November 30, 2009, an amount equal to One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) per month.
 
From December 1, 2009 through November 30, 2014, Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000,00) per month.
 
From December 1, 2014 until expiration of the Term (as the same may be extended) an amount equal to one percent (1%) of Base Rent per
month.
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ARTICLE II.  POSSESSION

 
2.0                               Delivery of Possession.  Tenant acknowledges that it has been given the opportunity to make inspections of the Premises to verify that

condition of the Premises is acceptable to Tenant and suitable for Tenant’s intended use. Landlord shall deliver Premises with the roof and all mechanical
systems, loading doors, door hardware and plumbing in good working order as of the Commencement Date.   Except as expressly provided herein, no
representations, warranties or agreements as to the condition or repair of, or improvements to, the Premises have been made by or on behalf of Landlord. 
Tenant’s acknowledges that the Premises shall be delivered in “AS IS” condition except as otherwise expressly provided herein. Tenant’s taking possession of
the Premises shall be conclusive evidence that the Premises were suitable for Tenant’s intended purposes, that the Premises were in broom swept condition
with all roofing, mechanical, loading doors, door hardware, electrical, and plumbing and other systems in good working order, that Tenant accepts the
condition of the Premises, and that Tenant waives all claims relating to the condition of the Premises.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Section, Landlord agrees to provide the Premises in compliance with all federal, state, county, municipal and other governmental statutes, laws, rules,
orders, regulations and ordinances, as well as in compliance with all environmental laws, rules, codes and regulations. Tenant shall provide Landlord with
detailed written notice of any such code violation or deficiencies within ninety (90) days after delivery of possession of the Premises, and Tenant shall have
waived all claims under this Section other than those specified in such written notice.

 
2.1  Racking System.  On the Commencement Date and provided Tenant is not in default hereunder, Landlord shall deliver a quit claim bill of sale

to Tenant as to Landlord’s right, title and interest in the racking system in the Building as of the hereof for a price of One Dollar. Such racking system shall be
conveyed in “AS IS” condition and Landlord disclaims all representation or warranties with respect thereto. Upon termination of this Lease, Tenant shall, at
its expense, remove the racking system and repair any damage to the Building caused thereby.

 
2.2                               Tenant Improvement Allowance.    Tenant shall, at its sole expense (but subject to reimbursement from the Tenant Improvement

Allowance described below), construct any and all improvements that Tenant deems necessary or desirable for Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises
(“Tenant Improvements”). The plans, specifications and contractors for the Tenant Improvements shall be subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval.  Such
construction shall comply with all terms and conditions of Article IX hereof which are applicable to Alterations.  All such Tenant Improvements shall be the
property of Landlord upon installation. Landlord shall provide Tenant with a “Tenant Improvement Allowance” of  Two Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand
Dollars ($225,000.00) to be paid to Tenant on the first business day following Commencement Date.
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ARTICLE III.  USE

 
3.0                               Permitted Use.  The Premises shall be used and occupied only for the purposes set forth in Section 1.0.



 
ARTICLE IV.  RENT

 
4.0                               Base Rent.  Commencing on the Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay Base Rent as set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions, in equal

monthly installments in advance, on the first day of each month during the term hereof.    Base Rent shall be prorated for any partial months or years within
the Lease Term.

 
4.1                               Payment of Rent.  All charges, costs and sums required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease in addition to Base Rent, including without

limitation payments on account of Taxes (as defined below), shall be deemed additional rent (“Additional Rent”).  Base Rent and Additional Rent are 
hereinafter collectively referred to as “Rent”.  Tenant’s covenant to pay Rent shall be independent of every other covenant in this Lease.  Rent shall be paid to
or upon the order of Landlord at the Landlord’s Address set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions, or as Landlord shall otherwise direct by written notice to
Tenant.  All payments of Rent shall be made without any prior demand therefor and without deduction, set off, discount or abatement in lawful money of the
United States. If paid by check, such check shall be drawn upon a Federal Reserve Member Bank located in the State in which the Premises are located.

 
4.2                               Late Charges.  If any payment of Rent is not received by Landlord within five (5) days after the date due, on more than two (2) occasions

during the first twelve months of the Lease Term, or on more than one (1) occasion during any subsequent twelve month period, then Tenant shall pay
Landlord a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of the amount of said delinquent payment.

 
4.3                               Accord and Satisfaction.  No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of Rent hereunder shall be deemed to be other than on account of

the amount due, and no endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment of Rent shall be deemed an accord and
satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check as payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such installment or payment of
Rent or pursue any other remedies available to Landlord.  No receipt of money by Landlord from Tenant after the termination of this Lease or Tenant’s right
of possession of the Premises shall reinstate, continue or extend the Lease Term or Tenant’s right of possession.
 

ARTICLE V.  TAXES
 

5.0                               Net Lease.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein and notwithstanding any present or future law to the contrary, the parties intend
that the Base Rent reserved herein shall be received and enjoyed by Landlord as a net sum, without setoff, abatement, counterclaim, defense or deduction by
Tenant, and without diminution by Taxes or any other imposition of any public authority (except for income, franchise, estate, succession, inheritance or
transfer taxes assessed against Landlord), or any expenses or charges for maintenance or repair of the Premises.
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5.1                               Payment of Taxes.   Unless otherwise provided below,  throughout the Lease Term, Tenant shall pay all Taxes (as hereafter defined)

assessed against the Premises directly to the proper governmental authority,  municipality, or other entity owed therefor prior to the Taxes (or any installment
thereof) becoming delinquent. Tenant shall pay all interest and penalties imposed upon the late payment of any Taxes. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord official
receipts or other appropriate proof of payment satisfactory to Landlord of all Taxes required to be paid by Tenant within 10 days after the due date of each
installment of Taxes.
 

5.2                               Taxes.  “Taxes” shall mean all federal, state and local governmental taxes, assessments and charges of every kind or nature, whether
general, special, ordinary or extraordinary, which shall be levied against the Premises or which Landlord or Tenant shall become obligated to pay because of,
or in connection with, the ownership, leasing, or operations of the Premises, as now or hereafter improved, or the personal property, fixtures, machinery,
equipment, systems and apparatus located therein, or used in connection therewith, including without limitation any rental or lease tax, capital levy or similar
levies, charges, assessments or taxes based in whole or part, on the value, use or rents of the Premises, whether levied in substitution for, in lieu of, or in
addition to, general real and/or personal property taxes.  Taxes shall not include any federal, state or local income, corporate, franchise, capital stock,
inheritance, gift or estate taxes of Landlord, except that if a change occurs in the method of taxation resulting in whole or in part the substitution of any such
taxes, or any other assessment, for any Taxes as above defined, such substituted taxes or assessments shall be included in the Taxes. Taxes shall also include
any and all storm sewer, sanitary sewer and water taxes. For purposes hereof, Taxes for any Lease Year (as hereafter defined) shall be Taxes which are
assessed or become a lien during such year regardless of the date such Taxes are due for payment.   If a special assessment payable in installments is levied
against the Premises, Taxes for any Lease Year shall include only the installment of such assessment and any interest payable or paid during such year.  Taxes
that accrue during the first and last Lease Year in the term shall be prorated between Landlord and Tenant, and such obligation shall survive termination of
this Lease.  Taxes for the purposes hereof, however, shall not include (i) any special assessment for highway, street, or traffic control improvements, for
sanitary or storm sewers, for utilities or for other off-site improvements of any nature whatsoever made in connection with the development of the Building in
any instance where the work of constructing or installing such improvements or facilities shall have been started on or before a date two (2) years after the
Commencement Date of the Term of this Lease, or (ii) any inheritance tax, estate tax, transfer tax, gift tax, franchise tax, corporate income tax, net profit tax
or capital levy that may be imposed on Landlord unless and until the same is levied as a real estate tax or, nor shall any interest or penalties on any late
payment be included in Taxes except to the extent that Tenant was late in paying its share of such Taxes.  In no event shall Taxes allocable to the Premises
include taxes on parcels of land not included in property described in Exhibit “A”.

 
5.3                               Protest of Taxes.  Tenant may from time to time, at Tenant’s sole cost,  protest or challenge Taxes for any Lease Year, provided that Tenant

shall have paid the Taxes in question (with reservation of rights if necessary). Tenant shall deliver Landlord written notice of any protest or challenge (which
shall include copies of any filings) thirty (30) days prior to date on which such challenge must be filed for such Lease Year.  If Tenant shall fail to file or
institute a
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protest or challenge of Taxes by March 1 of any given Lease Year, then with written notice to Tenant,  Landlord shall have the right to file or institute such a
protest or challenge, with such counsel and in such manner as shall be reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and in such event, Tenant shall pay the cost of such
challenge in an amount not to exceed any savings realized.

 
5.4                               Lease Year.  For purposes of this Lease, the term “Lease Year” shall mean each calendar year (or portion thereof, if the Lease shall

commence after January 1 or terminate prior to December 31) within the Lease Term.



 
ARTICLE VI.  INSURANCE

 
6.0                               Kinds and Amounts.  Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall obtain and continuously maintain in full force and effect during the Lease

Term:
 
(a)                                            Policies of insurance for the benefit of Landlord, as the named insured, insuring the Building against (i) loss or damage by fire or other

casualty, on an “all risk” form, subject only to such exclusions as are approved by Landlord; (ii) loss or damage by flood, if the Premises
are in a designated flood hazard area; (iii) loss from so-called explosion, collapse and underground hazards; (iv) if a sprinkler is in the
Premises, loss from sprinkler leakage, (v) rent loss insurance sufficient to pay all rent for a period of no less than twelve months after a
casualty, and (vi) loss or damage from such other risks or hazards of a similar or dissimilar nature which are now or may hereafter be
customarily insured against with respect to improvements similar in construction, design, general location, use and occupancy to the
Building.  At all times, such insurance coverage shall be in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the full replacement cost of
the Building and shall include a so-called “agreed value endorsement”.  “Full Replacement Cost” shall mean Landlord’s reasonable
judgment, from time to time, of the cost of replacing the Building without deduction for depreciation or wear and tear, and including a
reasonable sum for architectural, engineering, legal, administrative and supervisory fees connected with the restoration or replacement of
the Building in the event of damage thereto or destruction thereof.  If Tenant disputes Landlord’s judgment as to full replacement cost,
Tenant may at its expense, commission an appraisal of the property performed by an appraiser acceptable to Landlord, which appraisal
shall then serve as the basis for replacement cost.

 
(b)                                           Commercial general liability insurance covering claims arising from occurrences on, about or with respect to the Premises, with a

minimum of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000.00) combined single limit coverage, on an occurrence basis.    Such insurance shall
specifically insure (by contractual liability endorsement) Tenant’s obligations under Section 13.0 of this Lease.

 
(c)                                            Boiler and pressure vessel (including, but not limited to, pressure pipes, steam pipes and condensation return pipes) insurance, but only if

the Building contains
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a boiler or other pressure vessel or pressure pipes, in an amount reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.

 
(d)                                           Whenever and so long as any construction work or alteration work is in progress at or on the Premises, Tenant shall procure builder’s risk

insurance on a completed value form and all-risk basis with a replacement cost provision.  During all periods of such construction, Tenant,
its contractors and subcontractors shall also maintain in effect general liability insurance in such amounts as Landlord may reasonably
require and  Worker’s Compensation Insurance in minimum amounts required by State law.

 
(e)                                            Such other insurance, and in such amounts as may from time to time be reasonably required by Landlord, against other insurable hazards

which at the time are, in Landlord’s judgment, commonly or prudently insured against in the case of premises and/or buildings or
improvements similar in construction, design, general location, use and occupancy to those on or appurtenant to the Premises.

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Tenant’s obligation to carry the insurance required in this Section may be satisfied by a
blanket policy of insurance maintained by Tenant provided that (i) the amount of such blanket policy is reasonable in relation to the number of locations
covered; (ii) the coverage afforded will not be reduced or diminished by reason thereof; (iii) the Premises under this Lease are specifically referenced in the
Tenant’s policy, (iv) the insurance limits required to be carried above are specifically designated as being exclusively available to the Premises and this Lease
regardless of any  claims brought under such blanket policy with respect to other locations; and (iv) all other requirements of this Section are met.
 

6.1                               Named Insureds; Co-Insurance.  All liability policies required to be maintained by Tenant shall name Landlord, Landlord’s mortgagee
and such others as may from time to time be named by Landlord, as additional insureds.  All property policies insuring the Building or improvements therein
shall be payable solely to Landlord and Tenant shall have no interest therein. Landlord shall have the sole right to settle with the insurance carriers on the
policies carried under Sections 6(a), (c) and (d) above. Landlord shall have no interest in, and Tenant shall have the sole right to settle, any policies that
Tenant carries on its contents and personal property.  If Landlord so requests, the holder of any mortgages or ground leases on the Premises shall be named on
such property policies pursuant to a standard mortgagee clause.   Tenant shall comply with, observe and perform all provisions and requirements of all
policies of insurance at any time in force with respect to the Premises. Tenant shall not take out separate property insurance concurrent in form or contributing
in the event of loss with that required hereunder, unless Landlord is included therein as a named insured with loss payable as provided above.  Tenant shall
immediately notify Landlord whenever any such separate insurance is taken out and shall deliver to Landlord duplicate originals thereof or original
certificates evidencing the same with true copies of such insurance policies attached.   Tenant shall increase the limits of the
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policies required hereunder as Landlord may request from time to time.  All policies carried by Tenant shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement.

 
6.2                               Deductibles; Evidence of Insurance.  Each policy required under this Article shall have a deductible of no more than Two Hundred Fifty

Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) and in the event of a loss, Tenant shall pay the amount of such deductible to Landlord.  Each policy shall have attached
thereto (i) an endorsement that such policy shall not be cancelled or materially changed without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Landlord and
any named mortgagee, and (ii) an endorsement to the effect that the insurance as to the interest of Landlord shall not be invalidated by any act or neglect of
any person.  All policies of insurance shall be written by companies with “Best Guide” ratings in excess of A/XII, and licensed in the state in which the
Premises are located, and shall be written in such form as shall be reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.  Certificates of insurance acceptable to Landlord (on
Accord Form 28) and evidence of payment shall be delivered to Landlord prior to the Commencement Date and prior to expiration of any policy.   Upon
request by Landlord, Tenant shall deliver copies of all insurance policies to Landlord.

 
6.3                               Mutual Waiver of Subrogation Rights.  Whenever (a) any loss, cost, damage or expense resulting from fire, explosion or any other

casualty or occurrence is incurred by either of the parties to this Lease, or anyone claiming by, through, or under it in connection with the Premises, and (b)



such party is then covered in whole or in part by insurance with respect to such loss, cost, damage or expense or is required under this Lease to be so insured,
then the party so insured (or so required to be insured hereunder) hereby releases the other party from any liability said other party may have on account of
such loss, cost, damage or expense to the extent of any amount recovered by reason of such insurance (or which could have been recovered had such
insurance been carried as so required hereunder) and waives any right of subrogation which might otherwise exist in, or accrue to, any person on account
thereof, provided that such release of liability and waiver of the right of subrogation shall not be operative in any case where the effect thereof is to invalidate
such insurance coverage.

 
ARTICLE VII.  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS; CODES; DECLARATIONS

 
7.0                               Compliance.  Tenant shall, throughout the Lease Term, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, promptly comply with, and remove or cure

violations of, any and all present and future laws, ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, guidelines and requirements of all Federal, State, Municipal and
other governmental bodies having jurisdiction over Tenant, the Premises and the operations or activities conducted therein, regardless of whether the
compliance, curing or removal of any such violation and the costs and expenses necessitated thereby shall have been foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary or
extraordinary, and whether or not the same shall be presently within the contemplation of Landlord or Tenant or shall involve any change of governmental
policy, and irrespective of the costs thereof.  Landlord shall, without expense to Tenant, make any and all alterations whether structural or non-structural,
ordinary or extraordinary, foreseen or unforeseen, required to be made to the Premises at any time during the Term of the Lease by law, ordinance or
regulation of any governmental authority, Landlord’s insurers, or similar authority, whether or not said law, ordinance or regulation is in
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effect, or is contemplated, as of the date of execution hereof, but only if such change in law is of general applicability to industrial warehouses and is not 
related to Tenant’s particular use or operations.

 
7.1 Observance of Matters of Record.  Tenant shall comply with the terms and requirements of all permits issued by governmental authorities

issued in connection with use or operation of the Premises. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with any and all  easements and covenants,
conditions and  restrictions of record affecting the Premises. Tenant shall observe and perform all obligations binding upon the owner of the Premises
pursuant to the Declaration (as defined below).

 
7.2                               Fire Protection.  Tenant shall comply with all applicable building and fire codes, laws and ordinances, including without limitation the all

applicable rules and regulations of the Board of Fire Underwriters, the fire department or marshall wherein the Premises are situated, and the property
insurance carrier.  In the event that the Premises are served by a sprinkler system, Tenant will cause the same to be served by a sprinkler monitoring system
connected to the local fire department or to a qualified monitoring service approved by Landlord.

 
ARTICLE VIII.  REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

 
8.0                               Tenant’s Repair Obligations. Except for those repairs which are to be performed by Landlord as described below, Tenant shall, at its sole

cost,  take good care of the Premises, and shall keep the same in good order and condition, and shall,  without limitation promptly make and perform all
necessary repairs, maintenance and replacements to mechanical, electrical, plumbing, loading, and HVAC systems, interior walls, ceilings and floors, loading
areas, landscaping, parking and driveways, walls, doors, windows and all other building components, refuse and loading areas,  entrances and passageways,
except for damage caused by the act or neglect of Landlord, its subtenants, employees, agents, invitees, or contractors. Tenant shall, at its sole cost, perform
all landscaping, salting, de-icing and snowplowing at its cost.  Tenant shall further, at its sole cost, perform all obligations and pay all assessments imposed on
the owner of the Premises pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Turnpike Crossing, dated April 30, 2001 and recorded  in
Deed book 4937 page 71, as amended by First Amendment of Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Turnpike Crossing, dated September
17, 2001, and recorded in Deed Book 4962 page 333, and Second Amendment of Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Turnpike
Crossing, dated December 22, 2003, as the same may be subsequently amended (collectively, the “Declaration”).  A copy of the Declaration is attached
hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein.  If the Declaration is hereafter amended, Tenant shall not be obligated to comply with any terms of such
amendment which conflict with the terms of this Lease or materially increase Tenant’s obligations.  Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Declaration to
the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible (i) to repair or maintain common utilities or lines which serve more than one parcel in the Turnpike Crossing
Industrial Park, except to the extent of its pro-rata share of such costs or related association assessments, or (ii) to make any repairs or replacements required
by the Declaration that would be the obligation of Landlord under Section 8.1 or Article 14 below.
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8.1                               Landlord Repair Responsibilities.   Landlord shall maintain, repair and replace, as necessary, the roof and structure of the Building,

except for damage caused by the act or neglect of Tenant, its subtenants, employees, agents, invitees, or contractors.   Landlord shall not be deemed in default
of this Section or Section 8.2 unless Tenant has first given Landlord written notice of any repairs required of Landlord and Landlord has not effected such
repairs within thirty (30) days after  receipt of such notice or such longer period as may be reasonably required to effect such repairs.  Except as set forth in
this Section 8.1 and Section 8.2, Landlord shall not be required to furnish any services or facilities or to make any repairs or alterations in, about or to the
Premises and Tenant assumes the full and sole responsibility for the condition, operation, repair, replacement, and maintenance of the Premises and waives
any rights created by any law now or hereafter in force that require Landlord to make repairs to the Premises.

 
In the event Landlord makes any repairs required pursuant to this Section, Landlord shall use its reasonable efforts to avoid damage to Tenant’s

property. Landlord agrees to be responsible for damage to Tenant’s property, if such damage is caused by the negligence of Landlord or its agents, contractors
or employees.

 
In the event Landlord fails in the performance of any of its obligations under this Section and after thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice from

Tenant specifying such default (or, in the event of an emergency, within a period of time commensurate with such emergency provided Tenant has made
reasonable effort to provide both fax and telephonic notice to Landlord and its management agent) fails to commence curing such default, Tenant may
thereupon cure such default and Landlord will pay the actual and reasonable costs paid by Tenant in curing such default (plus an administrative fee of fifteen
percent (15%) of the amount thereof) within thirty (30) days after receipt of a bill therefore, as Tenant’s sole remedy.
 



8.2   Landlord Representations and Warranties.  Landlord warrants  the roof and all mechanical systems against defects in material and
workmanship for twelve (12) months after the Commencement Date, except for damage caused by the act or neglect of Tenant, its subtenants, employees,
agents, invitees, or contractors.  As of the date hereof, Landlord has not received any written notice that the Building is in violation of any applicable building,
environmental or other  code or law that has not been cured.

 
8.3                               Covenant Against Waste.  Tenant shall not commit or suffer any waste or damage, disfigurement or injury to the Premises or permit or

suffer any overloading of the floors, electrical or other systems or otherwise use the Building in a manner that would place an undue stress on the same
beyond safe or design limits.

 
ARTICLE IX.  ALTERATIONS

 
9.0                               Alterations. Tenant shall not perform any alterations, additions, demolition, installations, or improvements in, on, of or to the Premises

(“Alterations”) without Landlord’s prior written consent, which Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold except as provided below.  No Alterations shall be
permitted that, in Landlord’s sole discretion, adversely affect the Building’s systems, structure or exterior appearance, or value or marketability of the
Premises.
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All Alterations shall be performed in accordance with all applicable laws, codes, regulations, ordinances and rules.  All Alterations shall be performed in a
good and workmanlike manner by tradesmen skilled in their respective trades, using only new materials.   All Alterations and Tenant’s Work shall, upon
installation, become part of the Premises, shall be owned by Landlord, and shall, unless Landlord requires removal, remain in the Premises at the expiration or
termination of this Lease or termination of Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises, without compensation or credit to Tenant.  Landlord shall, without
limitation, have the right to receive and approve all contractors, subcontractors, construction contracts, plans and specifications, contractor insurance and
sworn owners affidavits. In addition Owner shall have the right to require satisfactory evidence of Tenant’s ability to pay and the posting of payment and
performance bonds from contractors.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Tenant may, without Landlord’s consent, but with prior notice to Landlord,
make alterations to the interior of the Premises, the cost of which does not exceed $250,000 in the aggregate, and which do not alter, modify or in any other
manner whatsoever affect (i) the structural portions of the Premises, (ii) the roof of the building of which the Premises shall form a part and the exterior of the
Premises (including but not limited to the storefront), (iii) the structural integrity of the building of which the Premises shall form a part, or (iv) the plumbing,
electrical, heating, ventilating, air-conditioning, or mechanical systems or installations in the Premises.

 
9.1                               Liens and Claims.  To the extent permitted by law, all of Tenant’s contracts and subcontracts for such Alterations for which Landlord’s

consent is required shall provide that no lien shall attach to or be claimed against the Premises or any interest therein other than Tenant’s leasehold interest in
the Premises, and that all subcontracts let thereunder shall contain the same provision.  Any liens or claims that are filed shall be subject to the provisions of
Section 11.1 below.

 
9.2                               Completion of Alterations.  Tenant shall pay the cost of all Alterations.  Upon completion of each Alteration, Tenant shall furnish

Landlord with customary contractor’s affidavits and full and final waivers of lien and receipted bills covering all labor and materials expended and used in
connection therewith, and “as built” plans thereof or a certificate from Tenant’s architect that the Alterations were performed in accordance with the plans and
specifications approved by Landlord.

 
9.3                               Signage.    Subject to compliance with applicable laws and any approvals required under the Declaration, and subject to the prior written

approval of Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, upon execution of this Lease, Tenant shall have the right, at its sole expense, to install a
monument sign on the Land and a sign on the exterior of the Building.  Upon expiration or termination of the Lease, all such signs shall be removed and any
damage caused thereby shall be repaired by Tenant, at its expense.
 

ARTICLE X.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING
 

10.0                        Landlord’s Consent Required.  Tenant shall not sell, assign, mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or in any other manner transfer or encumber
any of its interest in this Lease or sublet or permit others to use or occupy any portion of the Premises, or grant any license,
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concession, franchise or other rights or interest in this Lease or the Premises, voluntarily, by operation of law or otherwise (the foregoing are sometimes
referred to collectively or individually as a “Transfer”) without in each case obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent, which Landlord shall not
unreasonably withhold. Landlord shall not be deemed to have unreasonably withheld its consent if: (i) such proposed transferee  has a net worth of less than
$50,000,000.00 (exclusive of goodwill); or (ii) if such proposed transferee has publicly rated debt, its senior unsecured credit rating shall be less than
Standard & Poors “BBB” (or Moody’s or Fitch equivalent), (iii) the reputation or character of the proposed transferee would in Landlord’s judgment
materially damage the image or value of the Building, or (iv) the transferee proposes a use which is not permitted by the Declaration or applicable law or 
involves manufacturing or the use, generation or storage of significant amounts of Hazardous Materials (as hereafter defined).

 
A registered offering of the stock of Tenant shall not be deemed a Transfer under this Lease provided (i) the registered public offering applies to all

stores of Tenant, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, (ii) there is no material change in Tenant’s management on account thereof, and (iii) Tenant is not in
material default under this Lease beyond applicable cure periods at the time of the public offering.  The sale of any outstanding capital stock of Tenant which
is effected through the “over the counter” market or through any recognized stock exchange shall not be deemed a Transfer under this Lease.

 
Tenant may assign this Lease or sublet all or any part of the Premises without Landlord’s consent to any parent, or wholly-owned subsidiary of

Tenant or of Tenant’s parent company or Tenant’s guarantor or any entity which is a successor to Tenant by way of merger, consolidation or corporate
reorganization or by the purchase of substantially all of the assets or shares of stock of Tenant (“Affiliate”), provided (a) any assignee shall assume in writing
the performance and observance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease; (b) a copy of the sublease or assignment and assumption
agreement is delivered to Landlord; (c) Tenant continues to remain liable for the performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease, and
(d) Tenant is not in default under the Lease.
 



10.1                        Other Requirements for Transfer.  (a)  As of the effective date of the Transfer, and at the time when Tenant  requests  Landlord’s written
consent thereto, this Lease must be in full force and effect, without default on the part of Tenant.  Any Transfer shall be subject to all the provisions, terms,
covenants and conditions of this Lease. Any assignment of this Lease shall transfer to the assignee all of Tenant’s right, title and interest in this Lease and all
of Tenant’s estate or interest in the Premises.

 
(b) No Transfer, whether or not Landlord’s consent is given, shall relieve Tenant of its liability and obligations under this Lease, and such liability of

Tenant shall not be affected by any subsequent amendment, modification, waiver or concession under the Lease.
 

(c) Any attempt by Tenant to Transfer an interest in this Lease or the Premises, by document or other agreement or by operation of law in violation of
the terms of this Lease, shall be void and confer no rights on any third party and shall, at Landlord’s option, constitute a
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default under this Lease.  The consent by Landlord to any Transfer shall neither constitute a waiver of the necessity of such consent to any subsequent
Transfer. If the Premises or any part thereof or any interest in the Lease are transferred, whether or not in violation of this Article, Landlord may collect rent
from the Transferee.  In such event, Landlord shall apply the net amount collected to the Rent due under this Lease, but no such collection or application shall
be deemed a waiver of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease or the consent to such Transfer or acceptance by Landlord of such Transferee.

 
(d)                                 Should Tenant desire to Transfer this Lease, Tenant shall give Landlord written notice of its intention to do so to Landlord at least thirty (30)

days or more before the effective date of such proposed Transfer, provided if Landlord’s consent is not required, such notice shall be given no later than the
date of Transfer.

 
(e)                                  Each Transfer shall be accomplished by an instrument in writing wherein the Transferee shall agree in writing for the benefit of Landlord to

assume and be bound by, and to perform the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease to be done, kept and performed by Tenant. If Landlord’s consent is
required to such Transfer, said instrument shall be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Landlord.

 
(f)                                    If Landlord’s consent is required to a Transfer, Tenant shall on demand reimburse Landlord for all expenses, including reasonable attorneys’

fees and disbursements, incurred by Landlord in conjunction with a requested Transfer by Tenant.
 

10.2                        Special Provisions Relating to Subleases.    The following terms and conditions shall apply to any subletting by Tenant of all or any part
of the Premises and shall be deemed included in all subleases under this Lease whether or not expressly incorporated therein:

 
(a)                                  Tenant hereby assigns and transfers to Landlord all of Tenant’s interest in all rentals and income arising from any sublease of all or a portion

of the Premises heretofore or hereafter made by Tenant, and Landlord may collect such rent and income and apply same toward Tenant’s obligations under
this Lease; provided, however, that until a default (after any required notice and the expiration of any cure period) shall occur in the performance of Tenant’s
obligations under this Lease, Tenant may, except as otherwise provided in this Lease, receive, collect and enjoy the rents accruing under such sublease. 
Landlord shall not, by  reason of this or any other assignment of such sublease to Landlord, nor by reason of the collection of the rents from a subtenant, be
deemed liable to the subtenant for any failure of Tenant to perform and comply with any of Tenant’s obligations to such subtenant under such sublease. 
Tenant hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs any such subtenant, upon receipt of a written notice from Landlord stating that a default  (after any required
notice and the expiration of any cure period) exists in the performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, to pay to Landlord the rents and other charges
due and to become due under the sublease.  Subtenant shall rely upon any such statement and request from Landlord and shall pay such rents and other
charges to Landlord without any obligation or right to inquire as to whether such default exists and notwithstanding any notice from or claim from Tenant to
the contrary.  Tenant shall have no right or claim against said subtenant, or, until the breach has
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been cured, against Landlord, for any such rents and other charges so paid by said sublessee to Landlord.

 
(b)                                 In the event of a breach by Tenant in the performance of its obligations under this Lease, Landlord, at its option and without any obligation

to do so, may require any sublessee to attorn to Landlord, in which event Landlord shall undertake the obligations of the sublandlord under such sublease
from the time of the exercise of said option to the expiration of such sublease; provided, however, Landlord shall not be liable for any prepaid rents or
security deposit paid by such subtenant to such sublandlord or for any other prior defaults or breaches of such sublandlord under such sublease.

 
(c)                                  Any matter or thing requiring the consent of the sublandlord under a sublease shall also require the consent of Landlord herein.
 
(d)                                 No subtenant shall further assign or sublet all or any part of the Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent.
 

ARTICLE XI.  LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES
 

11.0                        Encumbering Title.    Tenant shall not do any act which shall in any way encumber Landlord’s interest in and to the Premises, nor shall the
interest or estate of Landlord in the Premises in any way become subject to any claim by way of lien or encumbrance, whether by operation of law or by
virtue of any express or implied contract by Tenant.  Any claim to, or lien upon, the Premises arising from any act or omission of Tenant other than a claim by
Landlord, shall accrue only against the leasehold estate of Tenant and shall be subject and subordinate to the paramount title and rights of Landlord in and to
the Premises.  Tenant shall have no authority to contract for or on behalf of Landlord for any improvements or work. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease
to the contrary, Tenant and its lenders shall have the right to file UCC financing statements to perfect any lien which Tenant may desire to give on its
inventory, personal property or trade fixtures.

 
11.1                        Liens and Right to Contest.    Tenant agrees to hold Landlord harmless against all liens, claims and liabilities of every kind, nature and

description which may arise out of or in any way be connected with any work performed by or on behalf of Tenant. Tenant shall not permit the Premises to
become subject to any mechanics’, laborers’ or materialmen’s lien on account of labor, material or services furnished to Tenant or claimed to have been
furnished to Tenant in connection with work of any character performed or claimed to have been performed for the Premises by, or at the direction or
sufferance of Tenant.  If any such lien is filed against the Premises, Tenant shall within thirty (30) days thereafter either pay and discharge such lien of record,



or provide Landlord with a bond, title indemnity or other security acceptable to Landlord to assure full payment and discharge of such lien and to prevent any
sale, foreclosure or other forfeiture by reason of non-payment of such lien.  If Tenant fails to so discharge the lien or post such bond or security within said
thirty (30) days, then Landlord may, without investigation as to
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the validity of the lien claim, pay and discharge such lien and Tenant shall pay the cost thereof, and related attorneys fees, to Landlord upon demand.

 
ARTICLE XII.  UTILITIES

 
12.0                        Use and Purchase of Utilities.  From and after the date Tenant takes possession of the Premises, Tenant will pay, when due, all charges of

every nature, kind or description for utilities furnished to the Premises or chargeable against the Premises, including all charges for water, sewage, heat, gas,
light, garbage, electricity, telephone, steam, power, or other public or private utility services.   Tenant shall provide evidence of payment of all utilities to
Landlord upon request from time to time.

 
ARTICLE XIII.  INDEMNITY; WAIVER; ENVIRONMENTAL

 
13.0                        Indemnity. Tenant shall protect, indemnify and save harmless Landlord, Landlord’s beneficiaries, mortgagees, and their agents, employees,

officers and directors, from and against all liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses, including, without
limitation, attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred or asserted by reason of (a) any accident, injury to, or death of, persons or loss of, or damage to, property
occurring on or about the Premises or any part thereof, (b) any negligent or wrongful act or omission of Tenant, its successors, assigns or subtenants, or their
respective agents or employees; (c) any default  (after any required notice and the expiration of any cure period) by Tenant under the terms of this Lease; and
(d) the performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of any materials or other property in respect of the Premises or any part thereof performed by or
on behalf of Tenant during the Lease Term.  Tenant’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Lease shall survive the expiration or termination of this
Lease.  Landlord shall protect, indemnify and save harmless Tenant, Tenant’s beneficiaries, invitees and their agents, employees, officers and directors, from
and against all liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and
expenses, incurred or asserted by reason of (a) any negligent or wrongful act or omission of Landlord, its successors, assigns, or their respective agents or
employees; or (b) any failure on the part of Landlord to perform or comply with any of the terms of this Lease, which failure continues for thirty (30) days
after written notice thereof or such longer period as is reasonably required to cure.  Landlord’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Lease shall survive
the expiration or termination of this Lease.

 
13.1                        Waiver of Certain Claims.  Except with respect to damage or injury caused by Landlord’s willful acts or gross negligence, Tenant waives

all claims it may have against Landlord for damage or injury to property sustained by Tenant or any persons claiming through Tenant or by any occupant of
the Premises, or by any other person, resulting from any part of the Premises or any of its improvements, equipment or appurtenances becoming out of repair,
or resulting from any accident on or about the Premises or any other cause or resulting directly or indirectly from any act of neglect of any person, including
Landlord, to the extent permitted by law.  Such waiver shall include, but not by way of limitation, damage caused by water, snow, frost, steam, excessive heat
or cold, interruptions in utilities, sewage, gas, odors or noise, theft, or
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caused by bursting or leaking of pipes or plumbing fixtures, and shall apply equally whether any such damage results from the act or neglect of Tenant or any
other person, including Landlord, to the extent permitted by law, and whether such damage be caused by, or result from, any thing or circumstance above
mentioned or referred to, or to any other thing or circumstance whether of a like nature or of wholly different nature.  In no event shall Rent abate as the result
of any such occurrence.  All personal property belonging to Tenant or any occupant of the Premises that is in or on any part of the Premises shall be at the risk
of Tenant or of such other person only, and Landlord shall not be liable for any damage thereto or theft or misappropriation thereof.

 
13.2                        Receipt of Reports.    Tenant acknowledges that it has received a copies of the following environmental reports from Landlord:  Phase 1

Environmental Site Assessment Prepared by Eckland Consultants, Inc. for Allianz Life dated August 14, 2001 (“Existing Environmental Report”).
 
13.3                      Tenant’s Compliance With Environmental Laws.  Tenant shall not store any reportable quantities of Hazardous Materials at the Premises

without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The foregoing shall not be construed to prohibit Tenant from
storing and using non-reportable quantities of customary office and cleaning supplies or other products in the Premises, or from storing and using non-
reportable quantities of other products required in connection with Tenant’s permitted use.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all flammable or combustible
materials and any Hazardous Materials in the Premises shall be stored in specially designed containment rooms or containers to the extent required by
applicable Hazardous Materials Laws (as defined below).  In addition to the foregoing, Tenant shall at all times and in all respects comply with, and not
violate, by operation of law or otherwise, any federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations (“Hazardous Materials Laws”) relating to the industrial
hygiene, environmental protection or the use, analysis, generation, manufacture, storage, presence, disposal or transportation of any oil, petroleum products,
flammable explosives, mold, asbestos, urea formaldehyde, polychlorinated biphenyls, radioactive materials or waste, or other hazardous, toxic, contaminated
or polluting materials, substances or wastes, including without limitation, any “hazardous substances,” “hazardous wastes,” “hazardous materials” or “toxic
substances” under any such laws, ordinances or regulations (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”).  Tenant shall not be deemed to have violated a Hazardous
Material Law by operation of law if Landlord’s actions shall have served as the cause of such violation.

 
Tenant shall at its own expense procure, maintain in effect and comply with all conditions of any and all permits, licenses and other governmental

and regulatory approvals required for Tenant’s use of the Premises including, without limitation, discharge of (appropriately treated) materials or waste into or
through any sanitary sewer system serving the Premises.  Tenant shall cause any and all Hazardous Materials to be removed from the Premises and
transported solely by duly licensed haulers to duly licensed facilities for final disposal of such Hazardous Materials and wastes.  Tenant shall in all respects,
handle, treat, deal with and manage any and all Hazardous Materials in, on, under or about the Premises in complete conformity with all applicable Hazardous
Materials Laws and prudent industry practices regarding the management of such Hazardous Materials.  All reporting obligations to the extent
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imposed upon Tenant by Hazardous Materials Laws are solely the responsibility of Tenant.  Upon expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall
cause all Hazardous Materials (except to the extent such Hazardous Materials are generated, stored, released or disposed of during the term of this Lease by
Landlord) to be removed from the Premises and transported for use, storage or disposal in accordance and in compliance with all applicable Hazardous
Materials Laws.  Tenant shall not take any remedial action in response to the presence of any Hazardous Materials in, on, about or under the Premises, nor
enter into any settlement agreement, consent, decree or other compromise in respect to any claims relating to any way connected with the foregoing without
first notifying Landlord of Tenant’s intention to do so and affording Landlord ample opportunity to appear, intervene or otherwise appropriately assert and
protect Landlord’s interest with respect thereto.  In addition, at Landlord’s written request, at the expiration of the term of this Lease or within sixty (60) days
following the date of such request, whichever is later, Tenant shall remove all tanks or fixtures which were placed on the Premises during the term of this
Lease by Tenant, its agents, contractors or employees and which contain, or are contaminated with, Hazardous Materials.

 
Tenant shall within ten (10) days after receipt notify Landlord in writing of (a) any enforcement, clean-up, removal or other governmental or

regulatory action instituted, completed or threatened pursuant to any Hazardous Materials Laws; (b) any claim made or threatened by any person against
Landlord, or the Premises, relating to damage, contribution, cost recovery, compensation, loss or injury resulting from or claimed to result from any
Hazardous Materials; and (c) any reports made to any environmental agency arising out of or in connection with any Hazardous Materials in, on or about the
Premises, or with respect to any Hazardous Materials removed form the Premises, including, any complaints, notices, warnings, reports or asserted violations
in connection therewith.  Tenant shall also provide to Landlord, as promptly as possible, and in any event within ten (10) business days after Tenant first
receives or sends the same, copies of all claims, reports, complaints, notices, warnings or asserted violations relating in any way to the Hazardous Materials in
or on the Premises.  Upon written request of Landlord (to enable Landlord to defend itself from any claim or charge related to any Hazardous Materials Law),
Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord notices of hazardous waste manifests reflecting the legal and proper disposal of all such Hazardous Materials
removed or to be removed from the Premises.  All such manifests shall list the Tenant or its agent as a responsible party and in no way shall attribute
responsibility for any such Hazardous Materials to Landlord.

 
Tenant will indemnify, defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord), protect and hold harmless the Landlord from and against any and

all loss, claim, cause of action, demand, expense and the like (“Claims”) whatsoever arising or resulting, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, from the
presence, treatment, storage, transportation, disposal, release or management of Hazardous Materials in, on, under, upon or from the Premises (including
water tables and atmosphere) resulting from or in any way related to Tenant’s use of the Premises.  Tenant’s obligations under this section include, without
limitation and whether foreseeable or unforeseeable, (a) the costs of any required or necessary repair, clean-up, detoxification or decontamination of the
Premises, (b) the costs of implementing any closure, remediation or other required action in connection therewith as stated above; (c) the value of any loss of
use and any diminution in value of the Premises, and (d) consultants’ fees, experts’ fees and response costs.

 
18

 
The obligations of Tenant under this section survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

 
Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible for any claim, charge, loss, damage or liability relating to

Hazardous Materials to the extent that such Hazardous Materials (a) exist at, on or under the Premises on the date of Tenant’s entry thereon, (b) result from
the migration of Hazardous Materials from adjacent properties, or (c) are otherwise introduced to the Premises by Landlord, its employees or agents.

 
Landlord shall defend and indemnify Tenant and save Tenant harmless from and against all claims, actions, damages, liability and expense

(including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and disbursements) in connection with the loss of life, personal injury or damage to property caused by the use,
installation, release or removal of Hazardous Materials on the Premises by Landlord, its employees or agents.  Landlord shall not be liable for damages or
injury occasioned by the negligence or willful acts of Tenant, its agents, employees or servants.  Except as disclosed in the Existing Environmental Report,
Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant, that to the knowledge of Landlord, without investigation, the Premises is not in violation of applicable Hazardous
Material Laws as of the date hereof.  For the purposes hereof,  the “knowledge of Landlord’ shall be mean the actual knowledge of Brian Brennan or Patrick
O’Reilly, without investigation.

 
13.4                        Tenant’s Compliance with New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act.  Tenant represents and warrants that its U.S. Standard Industrial

Classification (“SIC”) system code is 5137 and that its operations on or about the Premises shall not constitute an “Industrial Establishment,” as defined at
N.J.A.C. § 7:26B-1.4, and successor provisions thereto.  Tenant, its assignees or sublessees agree that they will be primarily responsible for compliance with
all aspects of the Industrial Site Recovery Act, N.J.S.A. 13:1K-6 et. seq. (“ISRA”), for its Industrial Establishment and any Closing Operations related
thereto.

 
Tenant concurs that the termination of this Lease, whether by its scheduled course, operation of Landlord or Tenant’s acts, or those of a third party,

shall constitute “Closing Operations,” as defined at N.J.A.C. § 7:26B-1.4, and any successor provisions thereto, notwithstanding the fact that there is no
disruption in the operations of the industrial establishment.

 
Tenant shall, at Tenant’s own expense, make all submissions to, provide all information to, and comply with all requirements of, the Industrial Site

Evaluation Element or its successor at the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (“NJDEP”).  Tenant shall promptly furnish to Landlord true
and complete copies of all documents, submission, correspondence and oral or written communications provided by Tenant to the NJDEP, and all documents,
reports, directives, correspondence and oral or written communications by the NJDEP to Tenant.  Tenant shall also promptly furnish to Landlord true and
complete copies of all sampling and test results and reports obtained and prepared from samples and tests taken at and around the Premises.  Tenant shall
notify Landlord in advance of all meetings scheduled between Tenant and NJDEP, and Landlord may attend all such meetings.
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Should the NJDEP or any other division of NJDEP determine that a cleanup plan must be prepared and/or that a cleanup must be undertaken because

of a spill or discharge of Hazardous Materials at the Premises which occurred during the term of this Lease, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s own expense, promptly
carry out the approved plans (hereinafter a “Remediation Plan”).  Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible for
any cleanup plan to remediate a spill or discharge of Hazardous Materials to the extent that such Hazardous Materials (a) exist at, on or under the Premises on
the date of Tenant’s entry thereon, (b) result from the migration of Hazardous Materials from adjacent properties, or (c) are otherwise introduced to the
Premises by any party other than Tenant, its agents, contractors or employees.



 
Tenant shall commence all actions required to obtain ISRA Clearance (as such term is defined below) (i) at least five (5) months prior to the

scheduled termination of this Lease, (ii) immediately following Tenant’s intention to assign or sublease all or any portion of the Premises, or (iii) within ten
(10) days following Landlord’s written request therefor, which request may be delivered at any time, and Tenant shall diligently prosecute such clearance to
completion.  At no expense to Landlord, Tenant shall promptly provide all information requested by Landlord or NJDEP for preparation of a non-applicability
affidavit, de minimis quantity exemption application, limited conveyance application or other submission and shall promptly sign such affidavits and
submissions when requested by Landlord.  Landlord agrees that it shall reasonably cooperate with Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, as necessary to assist Tenant in
obtaining ISRA Clearance.  In the event Tenant fails to take all such required action for a period of thirty (30) days after notice, Landlord shall be entitle to
take such action as it deems appropriate in Tenant’s name.  Should Tenant determine its operations do not constitute an “Industrial Establishment” pursuant to
ISRA, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s own expense, obtain a letter of non-applicability or de minimis quantity exemption from the NJDEP and shall promptly
provide Tenant’s submission and the NJDEP’s exemption letter to Landlord.  In the event Tenant is unable to obtain a letter of non-applicability or de minimis
quality exemption from the NJDEP, Tenant shall promptly obtain a negative declaration, a signed Remediation Agreement or a final approval of clean up
from NJDEP and thereafter promptly take all necessary action in order to finally and completely comply with the same.

 
If Tenant fails to obtain either: (i) a non-applicability letter, (ii) a de minimis quantity exemption; (iii) a negative declaration; (iv) a signed

remediation agreement; or (v) final approval of cleanup; (collectively referred to as “ISRA Clearance”) from the NJDEP prior to the expiration or earlier
termination of the term of this Lease, then upon the expiration or earlier termination of the term of this Lease Landlord shall have the option either to consider
this Lease as having ended or to treat Tenant as a holdover tenant in possession of the Premises.  If Landlord considers this Lease as having ended, then
Tenant shall nevertheless be obligated to promptly obtain ISRA Clearance and to fulfill the obligations set forth above.  If Landlord treats Tenant as a
holdover Tenant in possession of the Premises, then Tenant shall pay monthly to Landlord double the regular and additional monthly rent which Tenant would
otherwise have paid, until such time as Tenant obtains ISRA Clearance, and during the holdover period all of the terms of this Lease shall remain in full force
and effect.
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Tenant shall permit Landlord and Landlord’s agents, servants and employees including but not limited to legal counsel and environmental

consultants and engineers, access to the Premises for the purposes of environmental inspections and sampling during regular business hours, or during other
hours either by agreement of the parties or in the event of any environmental emergency.  Tenant shall not restrict access to any part of the Premises and
Tenant shall not impose any conditions to access.

 
Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against all claims, liabilities, losses, damages and costs, forseen or unforseen,

including, without limitation, counsel, engineering and other professional or expert fees, which Landlord may incur by reason of Tenant’s action or non-action
with regard to Tenant’s obligations under this Section 13.5.

 
This Section 13.4 shall not be construed to limit Tenant’s obligations under any other Federal, State or local environmental laws, rules and

regulations, and shall not restrict Tenant’s additional environmental obligations, representations or warranties under this Lease. This Section 13.4 shall survive
the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.  Tenant’s failure to abide by the terms of Section 13.4 shall be restrainable by injunction.
 

ARTICLE XIV.  DESTRUCTION AND RESTORATION
 

14.0                        Substantial Destruction
 

If fifty percent (50%) or more of the Rentable Area of Premises is made untenantable by fire or other casualty, Landlord may, at its option, elect:
 
A.                                   To terminate this Lease as of the date of the fire or casualty by notice to Tenant within ninety (90) days after that date; or
 
B.                                     To proceed with reasonable diligence to repair, restore or rehabilitate the Building (excluding leasehold improvements paid for by Tenant),

in which event this Lease shall not terminate.
 
Landlord shall, as soon as reasonably possible but no later than 90 days after said casualty, notify Tenant of its estimate of the time necessary to

repair, restore or rehabilitate the Building.  If the repair of the Building is estimated by Landlord to take more than one hundred eighty (180) days from the
date of said casualty, then Tenant may, at its option, by written notice to Landlord delivered no later than thirty (30) days after receipt of said notice, terminate
this Lease.  If Landlord fails to repair, restore or rehabilitate the Building within said one hundred eighty (180) days, Tenant may terminate this Lease (which
termination shall occur delivery of Tenant’s termination notice or surrender of the Premises, whichever is later) by serving notice on Landlord no later than
thirty (30) days after the expiration of said one hundred eighty (180) day period.  If Tenant timely serves such notice on Landlord, Tenant shall surrender the
Premises (if not previously surrendered) within said thirty (30) days.
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Each of Landlord and Tenant shall have the right to cancel this Lease if a casualty damaging or destroying more than twenty-five percent (25%) of

the rentable area of the Premises occurs during the last two (2) years of the Lease.  A party shall exercise such right if at all by written notice to the other party
given not later than thirty (30) days after such damage or destruction.

 
14.1                        Less Than Substantial Destruction.  If less than fifty percent (50%) of the Rentable Area of Premises is made untenantable by fire or

other casualty, then Landlord shall with reasonable diligence repair, restore or rehabilitate the Building (excluding leasehold improvements paid for by
Tenant), at Landlord’s expense.

 
14.2                        Abatement.   If a fire or other casualty renders all or part of the Premises untenantable, Rent shall abate in proportion to the area rendered

untenantable and vacated by Tenant.
 
14.3                        Limitation on Repair Obligations. Landlord’s obligation to repair, restore and rehabilitate the Building shall be limited to the amount of

available insurance proceeds and subject to the terms of any first mortgage on the Premises.  In no event shall Landlord be obligated to repair or rebuild



leasehold improvements, alterations, or other improvements, trade fixtures or personal property installed or owned by Tenant.
 

ARTICLE XV.  CONDEMNATION
 

15.0                        Complete Taking.  In the event substantially all of the Building or the Premises is taken or condemned by any competent authority for any
public use or purpose (including a deed given in lieu of condemnation), this Lease shall terminate as of the date title vests in such authority, and Base Rent
shall be apportioned as of said date.  For the purposes hereof, “substantially all” shall mean a taking such that the Building or Premises, in Landlord’s
judgment, cannot physically or economically be restored to a complete architectural unit.

 
15.1                        Taking of Part. If less than substantially all of the Building or the Premises is taken or condemned by any competent authority for any

public use or purpose (including a deed given in lieu of condemnation), Base Rent shall be reduced by an amount which bears the same ratio to Base Rent
then in effect as the number of square feet of rentable area in the Premises so taken or condemned bears to the number of square feet of rentable Area of the
Premises.  Landlord, upon receipt of and to the extent of the award in condemnation or proceeds of sale, shall make necessary repairs and restorations
(exclusive of Tenant’s leasehold improvements and personal property paid for or installed by Tenant) to restore the Premises remaining to as near its former
condition as circumstances will permit, and to the Building to the extent necessary to constitute the portion of the Building not so taken or condemned as a
complete architectural unit.  In such event, the Base Rent payable hereunder from and after the date of vesting of title in such proceedings shall be reduced to
a sum equal to the product of the Base Rent set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which square footage the
Premises

 
22

 
after the same has been restored to a complete architectural unit, and the denominator of which is square footage of the Premises prior to such taking.

 
15.2                        Compensation.  Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire price or award from any such sale, taking or condemnation, whether

applicable to land, building, or other real estate interests.  Tenant hereby assigns all its interest in such award to Landlord and Tenant waives any right Tenant
has now or may have under present or future law to receive any award of damages for its interest in the Premises or this Lease, provided, Tenant shall have
the right to separately claim and receive any award which may be allowed to Tenant for Tenant’s trade fixtures and moving expenses, provided the same does
not reduce Landlord’s award.

 
ARTICLE XVI.  SUBORDINATION OR SUPERIORITY

 
16.0                        Subordination.  This Lease and Tenant’s rights are and shall be subject and subordinate to any and all mortgages, trust deeds and ground

leases now of record or hereafter executed by Landlord against the Premises and to all amendments, modifications, replacements or renewals thereof,
provided, the holder of such mortgage, trust deed or ground lease shall deliver to Tenant (and Tenant shall execute) a non-disturbance agreement in such
mortgagee’s standard and reasonable form.  Tenant shall execute and deliver within ten (10) days after request of Landlord such acknowledgments or
documents as may be requested from time to time in connection with the sale, financing, refinancing or ground leasing of the Premises, Land or Building
including, without limitation, subordination and attornment instruments.  If, in connection with the financing of the Premises, Land or Building, any
mortgagee (or ground lessor) shall request reasonable modifications of this Lease that do not materially increase the obligations or materially and adversely
affect the rights of Tenant under this Lease, Tenant shall make such modifications.  In particular, but without limitation, Tenant shall, upon request, provide all
mortgagees with written notice of any Landlord default hereunder and the right and opportunity to cure for no less than thirty (30) days after written notice
from Tenant or such longer period as is reasonably required to cure.  Landlord represents that as of the date hereof there is no mortgage encumbering the
Premises. If Landlord hereafter mortgages or refinances the Building, then Landlord shall cause the mortgagee, or other party holding an interest or estate
affecting the Premises and the Building, or both, to which this Lease is being subordinated, to deliver to Tenant a subordination and non-disturbance
agreement in such mortgagee’s reasonable form. Tenant shall execute such subordination non-disturbance and agreement within ten (10) days after receipt.

 
16.1                        Superiority.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a holder of a trust deed, mortgage or ground lease interest may, at its option require that this

Lease be made superior and paramount to any such trust deed, mortgage or ground lease and in such event Tenant shall execute whatever instruments are
requested to effect such result.

 
ARTICLE XVII.  SURRENDER

 
17.0                        Surrender.  Upon termination of this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession, Tenant will at once surrender and deliver up the Premises,

together with all improvements thereon, to Landlord, in good condition and repair, subject to ordinary wear and tear.  Tenant
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shall remove from the Premises all of Tenant’s personal property, and its equipment and trade fixtures (collectively “Tenant’s Property”) and Tenant shall
repair any injury or damage to the Premises which may result from such removal.  If Tenant does not remove Tenant’s Property from the Premises, as
aforesaid, Landlord may, at its option, remove the same (and repair any damage occasioned thereby) and dispose thereof or deliver the same to any other
place of business of Tenant or warehouse the same, and Tenant shall pay the cost of such removal, repair, delivery and warehousing to Landlord on demand,
or Landlord may treat Tenant’s Property as having been conveyed to Landlord with this Lease acting as a bill of sale, without further payment or credit by
Landlord to Tenant.  If Landlord requests the removal of any Alterations, Tenant shall remove all such items and restore the Premises to their original
condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted upon expiration or termination of this Lease.  If, after Landlord’s request, Tenant does not  remove said
Alterations, Landlord may remove the same and Tenant shall pay the cost of such removal to Landlord upon demand.

 
17.1                        Holding Over.  Tenant shall have no right to occupy the Premises or any portion thereof after the expiration or termination of this Lease or

of Tenant’s right to possession.  For each month or portion thereof Tenant retains possession of the Premises, or any portion thereof, after the expiration or
termination of this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession, Tenant shall pay Landlord an amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the last applicable
monthly Base Rent for the first six (6) months of any holdover, and thereafter two hundred percent (200%) of the last applicable monthly Base Rent.
Holdover rent shall be payable in advance on the first day of each month of such holdover and shall not be prorated for any partial month.  Acceptance of said
Base Rent shall not constitute a waiver by Landlord of any re-entry or other rights of Landlord provided for under this Lease or by law nor shall it be deemed
an extension or renewal of the Lease Term without a written election thereof by Landlord.  In addition, Tenant shall be liable for all damages, direct and



consequential, incurred by Landlord as a result of such holdover.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if prior to the date of Lease expiration, Landlord has
delivered a written renewal proposal to Tenant and Tenant and Landlord are negotiating in good faith to renew the Lease Term, then for a period of thirty (30)
days after expiration of the Lease, Base Rent shall be 100% of the last applicable monthly Base Rent, provided, however, the foregoing shall not obligate
Landlord or Tenant to negotiate in good faith or otherwise for a new lease for the Premises or renewal of the Term.

 
ARTICLE XVIII.  DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

 
18.0                        Defaults.  The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall be considered events of default by Tenant under this Lease:
 
(a)                                  Tenant shall fail to make any payment of Rent or any other payment required to be made by Tenant hereunder for a period of ten (10) days
after notice; or
 
(b)                                 Tenant shall fail in keeping, observing or performing any of the other covenants or agreements herein contained to be kept, observed and
performed by Tenant, and such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after notice thereof in writing to Tenant or such
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longer period as is reasonably required to cure, but not to exceed one hundred and twenty (120) days in total; or

 
(c)                                  Tenant or Guarantor, if any, shall make any assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall apply for or consent to the appointment of a
receiver for themselves or any of their property; or

 
(d)                                 Tenant or Guarantor, if any, shall be adjudged an involuntary bankrupt, or a decree or order for reorganization under the Federal bankruptcy
laws as now or hereafter amended, or under the laws of any state, shall be entered against Tenant or Guarantor, and any such decree or judgment or
order shall not have been vacated or set aside within sixty (60) days from the date of the entry or granting thereof; or

 
(e)                                  Tenant or Guarantor, if any, shall file or admit the jurisdiction of the court and the material allegations contained in any petition in
bankruptcy or any petition pursuant to, or purporting to be pursuant to, the Federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter amended, or Tenant or
Guarantor shall institute any proceedings for any relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws or any laws relating to the relief of debtors,
readjustment or indebtedness, reorganization, arrangements, composition or extension; or

 
(f)                                    The Premises are levied upon by any revenue officer or similar officer as the result of any act or omission of Tenant and such levy is not
removed with sixty (60) days after such levy is feled; or

 
(g)                                 A decree or order appointing a receiver of all or substantially all of the property of Tenant or Guarantor, if any, shall be made and such
decree or order shall not have been vacated or set aside within sixty (60) days from the date of entry or granting thereof; or

 
(h)                                 Except as permitted herein, Tenant shall abandon the Premises or vacate the same during the term hereof for more than ninety (90)
consecutive days.

 
Upon the occurrence of any one or more of such events, Tenant shall be in default hereunder.  Upon a default by Tenant, Landlord may apply and

retain all sums deposited with Landlord hereunder, and Landlord may, at its election, terminate this Lease or terminate Tenant’s right to possession only,
without terminating the Lease.  Upon termination of the Lease, or upon any termination of the Tenant’s right to possession without termination of the Lease,
the Tenant shall surrender possession and vacate the Premises immediately, and deliver possession thereof to the Landlord, and Tenant hereby grants to the
Landlord the full and free right, without demand or notice of any kind to Tenant, to enter into and upon the Premises, with or without process of law, and to
repossess the Premises as the Landlord’s former estate and to expel or remove the Tenant and any others who may be occupying the Premises, without being
deemed in any manner guilty of trespass, eviction, or forcible entry or detainer, without incurring any liability for any damage resulting therefrom and without
relinquishing the Landlord’s rights to Rent or any other right given the Landlord hereunder or by operation of law.  Tenant shall pay on
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demand all costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and costs, incurred by Landlord in recovering sums due hereunder, recovering possession of the
Premises, or otherwise enforcing this Lease or pursuing Landlord’s rights and remedies against Tenant or any assignee, sublessee or other transferee.  Where
either party brings a claim, in a court of competent jurisdiction, to enforce performance of the other party under this Lease, the non-prevailing party shall pay
to the prevailing party, on demand, such expenses as prevailing party may incur, including, without limitation, court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and
disbursements.

 
18.1                        Termination of Lease.  If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, Landlord shall be entitled to recover as damages all Rent and other sums

due and payable by Tenant on the date of termination, plus (1) an amount equal to the value of the Rent and other sums provided herein to be paid by Tenant
for the residue of the stated term hereof, less the fair rental value of the Premises for the residue of the stated term (taking into account the time and expenses
necessary to obtain a replacement tenant or tenants, including expenses hereinafter described relating to recovery of the Premises, preparation for reletting and
for reletting itself), discounted to a present value using a discount factor of five percent (5%), (2) the cost of performing any other covenants to be performed
by the Tenant, and (3) all other costs and expenses of Landlord resulting from such default, including attorneys fees, allowable under this Lease or at law.

 
18.2                        Termination of Right of Possession.  If the Landlord elects to terminate the Tenant’s right to possession only without terminating the

Lease, the Landlord may, at the Landlord’s option, enter into the Premises, remove the Tenant’s property, signs, and other evidences of tenancy, and take and
hold possession thereof as hereinabove provided, without such entry and possession terminating the Lease or releasing the Tenant, in whole or in part, from
the Tenant’s obligations to pay the Rent hereunder for the full term or from any of its other obligations under this Lease.  Landlord shall have the right to relet
all or any part of the Premises for such rent and upon such terms as shall be satisfactory to Landlord in its sole discretion (including the right to relet the
Premises as part of a larger area and the right to change the character or use made of the Premises).  Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to relet the
Premises, but in no event shall Landlord have an obligation to expend or advance any funds for marketing, commissions, tenant improvements, cleaning,
remodeling or other purposes related to reletting unless Tenant first deposits with Landlord the total amount of such anticipated costs, as Landlord shall



estimate.  Landlord shall have no obligation to accept any replacement tenant who in Landlord’s sole discretion is not creditworthy or whose or reputation
intended use would be detrimental to the Premises or the property of which the Premises is a part.  Landlord shall not be deemed to have failed to use such
reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages by reasons of the fact that Landlord has leased or sought to lease other vacant premises owned or controlled by
Landlord or its affiliates in preference to reletting the Leased Premises, or by reason of the fact that Landlord has sought to relet the Leased Premises at a
rental rate higher than that payable by Tenant under the Lease.  For the purpose of such reletting, Landlord may decorate or make any repairs, changes,
alterations or additions in or to the Premises that may be necessary or convenient, the cost of which shall be borne solely by Tenant.  If Landlord does not
relet the Premises, Tenant shall pay to Landlord on demand all costs of attempting to relet the Premises, and Rent and other sums provided herein to be paid
by Tenant for the remainder of the Lease Term as the same shall become due and payable.  If the Premises are relet and a sufficient sum shall not be realized
from
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such reletting after paying all of the expenses of such reletting and the collection of the rent accruing therefrom (including, but not by way of limitation,
attorneys’ fees and brokers’ commissions), to satisfy the Rent and other charges herein provided to be paid for the remainder of the Lease Term, Tenant shall
pay to Landlord on demand any deficiency as the same shall become due and payable.  Tenant shall not be entitled to any surplus if the Premises are leased
for an amount greater than the Rent reserved hereunder.  Tenant agrees that Landlord may file suit to recover any sums falling due under the terms of this
Section from time to time.  Notwithstanding an election by Landlord to terminate Tenant’s right to possession, Landlord may at any time thereafter elect to
terminate this Lease.

 
18.3                        Remedies Cumulative.  No remedy herein or otherwise conferred upon or reserved to Landlord shall be considered to exclude or suspend

any other remedy, but the same shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity or by statute, and every power and remedy given by this Lease to Landlord may be exercised from time to time and so often as occasion may arise or
as may be deemed expedient.

 
18.4                        No Waiver.  No delay or omission of Landlord to exercise any right or power arising from any default shall impair any such right or power

or be construed to be a waiver of any such default or any acquiescence therein.  No waiver by Landlord of any default of any of the covenants of this Lease
shall be construed, taken or held to be a waiver of any other default, or as a waiver, acquiescence in or consent to any further or succeeding default of the
same covenant.  The acceptance by Landlord of any payment of Rent or other sums due hereunder after the termination by Landlord of this Lease, or of
Tenant’s right to possession hereunder, shall not, in the absence of agreement in writing to the contrary by Landlord, be deemed to restore this Lease or
Tenant’s rights hereunder, as the case may be, but shall be construed as a payment on account, and not in satisfaction of damages due from Tenant to
Landlord.

 
18.5                        Interest.  Each payment of Rent and other amounts owed by Tenant hereunder, which shall not be paid when due, shall bear interest at the

rate of three percent (3%) over the the prime, corporate or base rate of interest announced by the Bank of America (or in the absence thereof, such other U.S.
bank designated by Landlord) from time to time, but, in either case, not to exceed any maximum rate of interest permitted by law, (“Interest Rate”), from the
date when the same is due under the terms of this Lease until the same shall be paid.

 
18.6                        Landlord’s Right to Perform Tenant Obligations.  If Tenant shall at any time fail to pay any Taxes, insurance premiums or other

payments as required under this Lease, fail to take out, pay for, maintain and deliver any of the insurance policies or certificates of insurance provided for in
Article VI, or fail to make any other payment or perform any other act or obligation on its part to be made or performed under this Lease, then after thirty
(30) days prior written notice to Tenant (or immediately and without notice in case of emergency, provided Landlord shall make a reasonable effort to provide
both fax and telephonic notice to Tenant or its representative), Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to make any such payment or perform any such act or
obligation on Tenant’s part to be paid or performed under this Lease.  Landlord may enter upon the Premises for any such purpose and take all such action
therein or thereon as
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may be necessary therefor.  Nothing herein contained and no such action by Landlord shall be deemed as a waiver or release of Tenant from any obligation of
Tenant under this Lease.  All sums so paid by Landlord and all costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees incurred by Landlord in connection with the
performance of any such act, plus an administrative fee of fifteen percent (15%) of the amount thereof, together with interest thereon at the Interest Rate from
the respective dates of Landlord’s making of each payment, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord on demand.

 
ARTICLE XIX.  MISCELLANEOUS

 
19.0                        Rights Reserved to Landlord.  Without limiting any other rights reserved or available to Landlord under this Lease, at law or in equity,

Landlord reserves the following rights to be exercised at Landlord’s election upon reasonable prior notice to Tenant: (i) to enter and/or inspect the Premises
and to make repairs, replacements, additions or alterations to the Premises, and (ii) to show the Premises to persons having a legitimate interest in viewing the
same.  Landlord reserves the right to grant easements, licenses and other rights and interests in, to or over any part of the Land, except that no such grant shall
materially interfere with Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Premises.

 
19.1                        Right of First Offer.  (a) Subject to the terms of this Section 19.1, prior to executing a binding agreement of sale for (or actually selling)

Premises, Landlord shall first offer to sell the Premises to Tenant.  Such offer shall be made by notice given to Tenant (the “First Offer Notice”), which shall
include the asking price for the Premises and any other material terms and conditions on which Landlord desires to offer such sale. Tenant shall have the right
to purchase the Premises upon the same terms and conditions as set forth in the First Offer Notice or upon such other terms and conditions as the parties may
mutually agree in writing (but the parties have no obligation to negotiate or agree to terms others than those in the First Offer Notice).  Tenant shall have the
right to exercise its purchase rights only by delivering unconditional written notice of acceptance to Landlord within fifteen (15) business days after delivery
of the First Offer Notice (the “Election Period”).  If for any reason Tenant fails to deliver this unconditional notice of acceptance within the Election Period,
then Tenant’s rights under this Section 19.1shall be deemed to have been waived and Landlord shall be free to sell the Premises to any person or entity upon
any terms and without any further obligation to Tenant, except as set forth below.

 
(b) If after Tenant fails to deliver its unconditional notice of acceptance, Landlord elects to market the Premises at a price which is less than 95% of

the price offered Tenant or accept an offer which is less than 95% of the price last offered Tenant, then Landlord shall first provide a revised First Offer



Notice which  notifies Tenant of such reduced price (which notice shall, in the case of an offer Landlord desires to accept, include a copy of the term sheet,
letter of intent or other written evidence of the terms of such offer, as the case may be).  Tenant shall have the right to exercise its purchase rights only by
delivering unconditional written notice of acceptance to Landlord within five (5) calendar days after delivery of such revised First Offer Notice (the “Revised
Election Period”).  If for any reason Tenant fails to deliver this unconditional notice of acceptance within the Revised Election Period, then Tenant’s rights
under this Section 19.1
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shall be deemed to have been waived and Landlord shall be free to sell the Premises to any person or entity upon any terms and without any further obligation
to Tenant.   Landlord’s obligations and Tenant’s rights under this subsection 19.1(b) shall not apply to any reduction in price offered to a party with whom
Landlord has previously entered a contract for the sale of the Premises after Tenant has waived its rights under subsection (a) above.

 
(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Landlord’s obligations and Tenant’s rights under this Section 19.1are subject to the following.
 
1.  Landlord’s obligations and Tenant’s rights under this Section 19.1 will terminate and become null and void if: the Tenant is not The Children’s

Place Retail Stores, Inc. or its Affiliate (as defined in Section 10.0 above), such rights being personal to such entity, or if Tenant defaults hereunder beyond
applicable notice and cure periods.

 
2.                                       Nothing in this Agreement is binding on or applicable in any way to: any mortgagee or ground lessors of all or any part of the Premises or

their purchasers, successors or assigns, whether or not any of them acquire title to the Premises; or any sale or conveyance of all or any part of the Premises to
any entity affiliated with  Landlord, or to any entity in which Landlord or any of its affiliates have an ownership or partnership interest.

 
3.                                       The rights of Tenant in this Section 19.1 are strictly personal to The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc. and any Affiliate to whom this

Lease has been properly assigned, and may not be exercised by or assigned or conveyed to any other person or entity.
 
4.                                     This Section 19.1 shall be applicable only to the first sale or transfer of the Premises by Landlord.  If Tenant waives its rights above and

Landlord thereafter sells the Premises to a third party, this Section 19.1 shall become null and void upon such conveyance.
 

19.2                        Brokerage.  Landlord and Tenant warrant to the other that neither of them has had any dealings with any broker or agent in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby, other than Cushman & Wakefield of New Jersey Inc. and Resource Realty of Northern New Jersey, each of whom shall
be compensated by Landlord pursuant to separate written agreement.  Landlord and Tenant covenant to pay, hold harmless and indemnify the other from and
against any and all costs, expenses or liability for any compensation, commissions and charges claimed by any other broker or agent, with respect to the
transactions contemplated hereby or the negotiation thereof and arising by virtue of the acts of the indemnifying party.

 
19.3                        Quiet Enjoyment.  So long as Tenant is not in default under this Lease, Tenant’s quiet and peaceable enjoyment of the Premises shall not

be disturbed or interfered with by Landlord.
 
19.4                        Notices.  All notices to, or demands upon, Landlord or Tenant desired or required to be given under any of the provisions hereof shall be in

writing.  Any notices or demands from Landlord to Tenant shall be deemed to have been duly and sufficiently given if delivered personally or if a copy
thereof has been mailed by United States registered or certified mail in an envelope properly stamped and addressed to Tenant at Tenant’s Address or at such
other address as Tenant may heretofore have designated by written notice to Landlord, and any notices or demands from Tenant to Landlord shall be deemed
to have been duly and sufficiently given if
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delivered personally or mailed by United States registered or certified mail in an envelope properly stamped and addressed to Landlord at Landlord’s address
or at such other address or to such other agent as Landlord may heretofore have designated by written notice to Tenant, with a copy to any first mortgagee of
the Premises, the identity and address of which Tenant shall have received written notice.  The effective date of any notice shall be the date of receipt.

 
19.5                        Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease and all provisions herein relating to time of performance shall be strictly construed. 

If either party hereto shall be delayed or prevented from the performance of any non-monetary obligation required hereunder by reason of acts of God, strikes,
lockouts, labor troubles, inability to procure materials or permits, restrictive governmental laws or regulations or other cause without fault and beyond the
control of the party obligated (financial inability excepted), performance of such act shall be excused for the period of delay and the period for the
performance of any such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of such delay, provided such party gives written notice of such condition
within ten (10) days after its occurrence.

 
19.6                        Severability.  If any term or provision of this Lease shall to any extent be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining terms and provisions

of this Lease shall not be affected thereby, but each term and provision of this Lease shall be valid and shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law
so long as the parties receive the essence of their bargain.

 
19.7                        Covenants Binding on Successors.  All of the covenants, agreements, conditions and undertakings contained in this Lease shall extend and

inure to and be binding upon the parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.
 
19.8                        Sale of Building.  If owner of the Premises sells or transfers the Premises, said owner shall be freed and relieved of all liability under this

Lease, provided the purchaser assumes the obligations of Landlord arising from and after the date of such sale or transfer.
 
19.9                        Estoppel Certificate.  Tenant shall from time to time, within ten (10) days after written request by Landlord or any mortgagee holding a

mortgage on the Premises, deliver to Landlord or such mortgagee a statement in writing certifying: (i) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and
effect or, if there have been modifications, that this Lease, as modified, is in full force and effect; (ii) the amount of Rent then payable hereunder and the date
to which Rent has been paid; (iii) that Landlord is not in default under this Lease or, if in default, a detailed description of such default(s); (iv) that Tenant is
or is not in possession of the Premises, as the case may be; (v) that Tenant has no claims, offsets or defenses against Landlord, and (vi) such other information
as Landlord may reasonably request.  In no event shall Tenant be required to deliver more than one (1) such statement or certificate in any twelve (12) month



period. In the event that Landlord shall require Tenant to deliver more than one (1) such statement or certificate in any twelve (12) month period, Landlord
shall pay to Tenant the sum of $300 for each such additional statement.

 
19.10                 Limitation of Liability.  All obligations and liabilities of Landlord hereunder shall be limited to Landlord’s interest in the Premises as the

same may be improved, subject to
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all prior interests, and neither Landlord nor its beneficiaries, partners, shareholders, directors, employees or agents shall be individually or personally liable
for any claim arising out of this Lease.   Any manager retained by Landlord shall be acting only as an agent and in such capacity shall not in any event be held
liable to Tenant for the fulfillment or non-fulfillment of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Lease or for any action or proceedings that may be
taken by Landlord against Tenant, or by Tenant against Landlord.

 
19.11                 Entire Agreement.  This Lease contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto and no representations, inducements, promises or

agreement, oral or otherwise, between the parties not embodied herein shall be of any force and effect.  The masculine (or neuter) pronoun, singular number
shall include the masculine, feminine and neuter gender and the singular and plural number.

 
19.12                 Law Applicable.  This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of  New Jersey.
 
19.13                 Venue.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, the parties agree that all actions or proceedings arising in connection with this Lease shall

be tried and determined only in the State courts located in the County of Middlesex, State of New Jersey or Federal courts located in the State of New Jersey. 
To the maximum extent permitted by law, each party hereby expressly waives any right it may have to assert the doctrine of forum non conveniens or to
object to venue to the extent any proceeding is brought in accordance with this Section.

 
19.14                 Jury Waiver.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, each of Tenant and Landlord hereby expressly waives any right to trial by jury of

any action, cause of action, claim, demand, or proceeding arising under or with respect to this Lease, or in any way connected with, related to, or incidental to
the dealings of Landlord and Tenant with respect to this Lease, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, and whether sounding in contract, tort,
or otherwise.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, each of Tenant and Landlord hereby agrees that any such action, cause of action, claim, demand or
proceeding shall be decided by a court trial without a jury and that Tenant or Landlord may file a copy of this Lease with any court or other tribunal as written
evidence of the consent of each of Tenant and Landlord to the waiver of its right to trial by jury.

 
19.15                 Corporate Consent.  Upon the execution of this Lease, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord such corporate consents, certificates and other

instruments as Landlord shall reasonably require, to verify the Tenant’s corporate authority to enter into this Lease.
 
19.16                 Execution.  The execution of this Lease by Tenant and delivery of same to Landlord or its agents does not constitute a reservation of or

option for leasing the Premises or an agreement to enter into a Lease, and this Lease shall become effective only if and when Landlord executes and delivers
same to Tenant.

 
19.17                 Amendments Must Be in Writing.  None of the covenants, terms or conditions of this Lease to be kept and performed by either party shall

in any manner be altered, waived,
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modified, changed or abandoned, except by a written instrument, duly signed and delivered by both parties.

 
19.18                 Financial Statements.  If Tenant is not or ceases to be a publicly traded company, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord from time to time, upon

written request, current financial statements of Tenant, which shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles by a certified
public accountant.

 
19.19                 Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which taken

together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
 

19.20                 Anti-Terrorism.  Each party hereto represents and warrants to the other that such party is not, and is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or
on behalf of any person or entity, named as a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person (as defined in Presidential Executive Order 13224), and that
such party is not engaged in this transaction, directly or indirectly, on behalf of, and is not facilitating this transaction, directly or indirectly, on behalf of, any
such person or entity.  Each party hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other party from and against any and all claims, damages, losses,
risks, liabilities, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) arising from or related to any breach of the foregoing representations and
warranties.
 

19.21                 Exhibits.  The following Exhibits are attached hereto and made a
 

part hereof:
 

Exhibit A
 

Legal Description
Exhibit B

 

Declaration
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease as of the date first above written.
 
TENANT: LANDLORD:
  
The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc., Turnpike Crossing I, L.L.C.
a Delaware corporation.

 



  
  
By: /s/  Mario Ciampi

 

By: /s/  Brian S. Brennan
 

Its: Senior Vice President
 

Its: Director, Real Estate
Acquisitions

 

  
Attest: Steven Balasiano

 

Attest:
  

 

Vice President & General Counsel
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EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
 

ALL THAT CERTAIN TRACT, PARCEL AND LOT OF LAND LYING AND BEING SITUATE IN THE TOWNSHIP OF SOUTH BRUNSWICK,
COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX, STATE OF NEW JERSEY, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
 
BEING KNOWN AND DESIGNATED AS PROPOSED LOT 9.03131 IN BLOCK 22.010, AS SHOWN ON A CERTAIN FILED MAP ENTITLED
“FINAL MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT, OPUS EAST, L.L.C., BLOCK 22.01, LOT 9.0313” DULY FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK/REGISTER
OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, ON APRIL 10, 2000 AS MAP 6056 FILE 984, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: THIS
PLAT WILL BE REFERRED TO AS THE “MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT”
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT SAID POINT BEING THE FOLLOWING BEARINGS AND DISTANCES FROM THE SOUTHEASTERLY TERMINUS OF
A CONNECTING ARC HAVING THE RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET AND CURVING TO THE LEFT AN ARC LENGTH OF 39.37 FEET (CENTRAL
ANGLE 90 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS) AND CONNECTING THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF DAVIDSONS MILL ROAD (VARIABLE
WIDTH R.O.W.) WITH THE AFORESAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF INTERSTATE BOULEVARD,
 
A.                                   NORTH FIFTY DEGREES THIRTY-THREE MINUTES EIGHT SECONDS EAST (N 50 DEGREES 33 MINUTES 08 SECONDS E) SEVEN
HUNDRED FORTY-TWO AND SEVENTY-EIGHT HUNDREDTHS FEET (742.78’) ALONG THE AFORESAID NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF
INTERSTATE BOULEVARD, TO A POINT IN THE SAME,
 
B.                                     NORTH THIRTY-NINE DEGREES TWENTY-SIX MINUTES FIFTY-TWO SECONDS WEST (N 39 DEGREES 26 MINUTES 52 SECONDS
W) EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR AND NINE HUNDREDTHS FEET (874.09’) ALONG THE NEWLY CREATED NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF
PROPOSED LOT 9.03133 BLOCK 22.01, SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON THE AFORESAID MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT, TO A POINT IN THE SAME,
 
AND FROM SAID POINT RUNNING, THENCE:
 
1.                                       NORTH THIRTY-NINE DEGREES TWENTY-SIX MINUTES FIFTY-TWO SECONDS WEST (N 39 DEGREES 26 MINUTES 52 SECONDS W)
FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY-SIX AND SEVENTY-EIGHT HUNDREDTHS FEET (436.78’) ALONG THE AFORESAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF
PROPOSED LOT 9.03133 BLOCK 22.01 TO A POINT IN A NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAME; THENCE
 
2.                                       SOUTH FIFTY DEGREES THIRTY-THREE MINUTES EIGHT SECONDS WEST (S 50 DEGREES 33 MINUTES 08 SECONDS W) FOUR
HUNDRED FIFTY-FIVE AND FOURTEEN HUNDREDTHS FEET (455.14’) ALONG THE AFORESAID NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF PROPOSED
LOT 9.03133 BLOCK 22.01 TO A POINT IN A NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAME; THENCE
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3.                                       NORTH THIRTY-NINE DEGREES TWENTY-SIX MINUTES FIFTY-TWO SECONDS WEST (N 39 DEGREES 26 MINUTES 52 SECONDS
W) ONE HUNDRED FORTY-NINE AND NINETY-SIX HUNDREDTHS FEET (149.96’) ALONG THE AFORESAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF
PROPOSED LOT 9.03133 BLOCK 22.01 TO A POINT IN THE EXISTING SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF LANDS NOW OR FORMERLY OF THE NEW
JERSEY TURNPIKE AUTHORITY (VARIABLE WIDTH R.O.W.); THENCE
 
4.                                       NORTH SEVENTEEN DEGREES TEN MINUTES TWELVE SECONDS EAST (N 17 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 12 SECONDS E) ONE
THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO AND NINETEEN HUNDREDTHS FEET (1,522.19’) ALONG THE AFORESAID SOUTHEASTERLY
LINE OF LANDS NOW OR FORMERLY OF THE NEW JERSEY TURNPIKE AUTHORITY, TO A POINT IN THE SAME; THENCE
 
5.                                       SOUTH THIRTY-SIX DEGREES SIXTEEN MINUTES FIFTY-SEVEN SECONDS EAST (S 36 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 57 SECONDS E)
THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-EIGHT AND THIRTY THREE HUNDREDTHS FEET (378.33’) ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 2.03
BLOCK 22.01 LANDS NOW OR FORMERLY OF MARY LOUISE JARASCHAK TO A POINT IN THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAME, SAID
ADJOINING LOT AS SHOWN ON THE AFORESAID MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT; THENCE
 
6.                                       NORTH SEVENTY-ONE DEGREES FIFTEEN MINUTES THREE SECONDS EAST (N 71 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 03 SECONDS E) NINE
HUNDRED SEVEN AND NINE HUNDREDTHS FEET (907.09’) ALONG THE AFORESAID SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 2.03 BLOCK 22.01
TO A POINT IN THE SAME; THENCE
 
7.                                       SOUTH TWENTY-FIVE DEGREES FIFTY-NINE MINUTES TWENTY-FOUR SECONDS EAST (S 25 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 24 SECONDS
E) SEVEN HUNDRED FORTY-SIX AND FORTY HUNDREDTHS FEET (746.40’) ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF LOT 3.01 BLOCK
22.01 LANDS NOW OR FORMERLY OF ALEXANDER & EILEEN BASTEK, ET AL AND BEYOND ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF
LOT 3.03 BLOCK 22.01 LANDS NOW OR FORMERLY OF LOCUST TO A POINT IN THE SAME; THENCE
 
8.                                       SOUTH FIFTY DEGREES THIRTY-THREE MINUTES EIGHT SECONDS WEST (S 50 DEGREES 33 MINUTES 08 SECONDS W) ONE
THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED SIXTY-NINE AND EIGHTY-SIX HUNDREDTHS FEET (1,469.86’) ALONG THE NEWLY CREATED



NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF PROPOSED LOT 9.03132, BLOCK 22.01, SAID ADJOINING LOT AS SHOWN ON THE AFORESAID MAJOR
SUBDIVISION PLAT, THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING.
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EXHIBIT B

DECLARATION
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Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Ezra Dabah, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:   September 7, 2004 By: /s/ EZRA DABAH
  

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Seth L. Udasin, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:   September 7, 2004 By: /s/ SETH L. UDASIN
  

Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Ezra Dabah, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, do hereby certify as follows:

1.                The quarterly report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31, 2004 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.                The information contained in such quarterly report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certification this 7th day of September, 2004.

By: /s/ EZRA DABAH
  

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

 

I, Seth L. Udasin, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of The Children’s Place Retail Stores, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, do hereby certify as follows:

1.                The quarterly report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31, 2004 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.                The information contained in such quarterly report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certification this 7th day of September, 2004.

By: /s/ SETH L. UDASIN
  

Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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